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Disclosure Statement Pursuant to the Pink Basic Disclosure 
Guidelines 

STANDARD VAPE CORPORATION 
A Nevada Corporation 

480 Forest Avenue, Suite 507 Locust Valley, NY 11560 (201) 220-8734 
www.standard-vape.com info@standard-vape.com SIC Code - 2100 

 
 

Quarterly Report for the Period Ended: 
March 31, 2021 (the “Reporting Period”) 

 

As of March 31, 2021, the end of the reporting period, the number of shares outstanding of our 
Common Stock was: 463,424,470. 

 
As of December 31, 2020, the end of the prior reporting period, the number of shares outstanding of our 
Common Stock was: 463,174,470. 

 
As of December 31, 2020, the end of our latest fiscal year, the number of outstanding shares of our Common Stock 
was: 463,174,470. 

 
Indicate by check mark whether the company is a shell company (as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 
1933 and Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act of 1934): 

Yes: No:     (Double-click and select “Default Value” to check) 

Indicate by check mark whether the company’s shell status has changed since the previous reporting period: 

Yes: No: 
 

Indicate by check mark whether a Change in Control1 of the company has occurred over this reporting period: 
 

Yes: No:  

1) Name of the issuer and its predecessors (if any) 
 

In answering this item, please also provide any names used by predecessor entities in the past five years and the 
dates of the name changes. 

 
The first name of the Issuer was Xuan Wu International Group Holding Company, changing its name on January 31, 2020. 

 
Date and state (or jurisdiction) of incorporation (also describe any changes to incorporation since inception, if 
applicable) Please also include the issuer’s current standing in its state of incorporation (e.g. active, default, 
inactive): 

 
The Issuer was incorporated in the state of Nevada on December 29, 2008 as Xuan Wu International Group 
Holding Company and its status is active. 

 
The following changes to its Articles of Incorporation by amendment or designation have been: 
On February 22, 2018, the Issuer amended its Articles to increase its authorized capital stock to two billion shares, par 
value $0.0001 per share and designated 1,990,000,000 shares as a sole class of common stock and 10,000,000 shares as 
preferred stock to be further designated from time to time in the sole discretion of the Board of Directors; 

 
May 3, 2018, the Board of Directors designated 300,000 shares of preferred stock as Class A Convertible Preferred 
Stock having conversion into and voting rights of 2,500 shares of common stock. 
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On May 29, 2019, the Board of Directors designated 100,000 shares of Class B Convertible Preferred Stock, each Class B Preferred 
share is convertible into and has the voting rights of 10 shares of common stock and each Class B share has a liquidation preference 
of $1.00. On the same date the Board of Directors designated 100,000 shares of Class C Convertible Preferred Stock, each Class 
C Preferred share is convertible into and has the voting rights of 50 shares of common stock and each share has a liquidation 
preference of $10.00 per share. 

 
October 15, 2019 the Issuer filed an amendment changing its name to Standard Vape Corporation effective upon FINRA 
approval which occurred on January 31, 2020. 
 
On March 11, 2021 the Issuer filed a Designation for Series D Convertible Voting Preferred Stock thereby designating 
100,000 shares each convertible into 12,480 common shares and with voting rights equivalent to 12,480 common shares. Each 
share carries a $1.00 liquidation preference. 
 

Issuer is active. 
 

Has the issuer or any of its predecessors ever been in bankruptcy, receivership, or any similar proceeding in the past five years? 

Yes: No:  



4 
 

2. Shares Outstanding 

The stated par value of common and preferred shares is $0.0001 

March 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 Change 
 

Common Shares  

Security Symbol SVAP SVAP  

CUSIP 85423F106 85423F106  

Authorized: 1,990,000,000 1,990,000,000  

Outstanding: 463,424,470 463,174,470 250,000 

Number of shares in the Public Float1: 19,182,350 19,182,350  

Number of record holders: 83 84  

# of beneficial holders owning at least 100 shares: 83 84  

Class A Preferred Shares 
   

Security Symbol None None  

CUSIP None None  

Authorized: 300,000 300,000  

Outstanding: 92,625 92,625  

Freely Tradable (public float): N/A N/A  

Number of record holders: 11 11  

# of beneficial holders owning at least 100 shares: 11 11  

Class B Preferred Shares 
   

Security Symbol None None  

CUSIP None None  

Authorized: 100,000 100,000  

Outstanding: - 25,000 (25,000) 

Freely Tradable (public float): N/A N/A  

Number of record holders: - 1 - 

# of beneficial holders owning at least 100 shares: - 1 - 

Class C Preferred Shares 
   

Security Symbol None None  

CUSIP None None  

Authorized: 
 

100,000 100,000  

Outstanding: 0 0 0 
Freely Tradable (public float): N/A N/A  

Number of record holders: 0 0 0 

# of beneficial holders owning at least 100 shares: 0 0 0 

    

Class D Preferred Shares 
  

Security Symbol None None 
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CUSIP None None 
Authorized: 100,000 0 
   
Outstanding: 0 0 0 
Freely Tradable (public float): N/A N/A  

Number of record holders: 0 0 0 

# of beneficial holders owning at least 100 shares: 0 0 0 

Undesignated Preferred Shares 
   

Security Symbol None None  

CUSIP 
Authorized: 

None 

9,400,000 

None 

9,500,000 

 

Outstanding: 
Freely Tradable (public float): 
Number of record holders: 

0 
N/A 

0 

0 
N/A 

0 

0 
 

0 

 
Transfer Agent 

 

Name: VSTOCK TRANSFER, LLC 
 

Phone: 212-828-8436 
Email: info@vstocktransfer.com 

 

Is the Transfer Agent registered under the Exchange Act? Yes:  

List any restrictions of on transfer of security: Rule 144 on 444,242,120 restricted shares 

Describe any trading suspension orders issued by the SEC in past 12 months: None 

List any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, merger, acquisition, spin-off, or reorganization either currently 
anticipated or that occurred within the past 12months: 

 
On March 26, 2019, the Company sold its trademarks to its Licensee M&D Distributors, Inc. and acquired Nano Vape 
Corporation (“NVC” or “Nano Vape”). Nano Vape is engaged in the development of proprietary vaping technology. 
The terms of the acquisition resulted in John Fruhmann returning his 300,000 shares of Class A Preferred Stock to 
Treasury and the issuance of 250,000 shares of the Class A Preferred Stock to the shareholders of Nano Vape in 
exchange for all issued and outstanding securities of Nano Vape. John Fruhmann resigned as director of the Company 
and was replaced by Melvin Ehrlich. John remains as President. The result of this acquisition was a change in control. 

On April 19, 2019, the Company divested the business of Xuan Wu International Group, Inc. Effective 1/31/2020 
FINRA approved the Company’s request to change its name to Standard Vape Corp. from Xuan Wu International 
Group Holding Company. In April, 2020, the Issuer formed Neo Virucide, Inc., a Wyoming corporation, as a wholly-
owned subsidiary. 

On March 25, 2021, the Board appointed two new directors, Daniel Fisher and Elizabeth Ehrlich Kellogg. Immediately 
thereafter Mel Ehrlich resigned from the Board of Directors. 

 

 

No: 
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3. A. Issuance History 
Number of Shares 

Outstanding 4/1/2019  Security 

25,308700 Common stock 

                                                      250,000 Preferred Stock Class A 

0 Preferred Stock Class B 

0 Preferred Stock Class C 

0 Preferred Stock Series D 

0 Undesignated Preferred Stock 
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There were twenty-two common stock issuances/transactions during the past two years 

(including one issuance during the first quarter of 2021). 
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Date of 

Transaction

Transaction 

type (e.g. new 

issuance, 

cancellation

, shares 

returned to 

treasury)

Number of 

Shares Issued 

(or cancelled)

Class of 

Securities

Value of 

shares issued 

($/per share) 

at Issuance

Were the 

shares issued 

ata discount 

to market 

price atthe 

time of 

issuance? 

(Yes/No)

Individual/ 

Entity Shares 

were issued 

to (entities 

must have 

individual 

with voting/ 

investment

control 

disclosed).

Reason for 

share 

issuance (e.g. 

for cash or 

debt 

conversion) 

OR Nature of 

Services 

Provided (if

applicable)

Restricted or 

Unrestricted 

as of this 

filing?

Exemption 

Registration 

Type

10/7/2019 New Issuance 1,000,000 Common 0.00 Yes
Jenny 

Holman

Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

2/20/2020 New Issuance 137,500,000 Common 0.00 Yes Daniel Fisher
Pref A 

Conversion
Restricted None

2/20/2020 New Issuance 61,875,000 Common 0.00 Yes
Roger L. 

Fidler

Pref A 

Conversion
Restricted None

2/26/2020 New Issuance 9,144,860 Common 0.00 Yes
Bradley W. 

Fidler

Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

2/29/2020 New Issuance 17,960 Common 0.00 Yes
Ann C. 

Copeland

Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

2/29/2020 New Issuance 35,920 Common 0.00 Yes
Jennifer S. 

Holman

Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

2/29/2020 New Issuance 35,920 Common 0.00 Yes
Kathryn 

Fruhmann

Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

2/29/2020 New Issuance 1,449,300 Common 0.00 Yes

Off Balance 

D.O.O. / 

Beograd 

Vracar

Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

2/29/2020 New Issuance 17,960 Common 0.00 Yes
Rosellen M. 

Castellano

Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

2/29/2020 New Issuance 1,307,340 Common 0.00 Yes
Trend D.O.O. 

/ Igor 

Bonderenko

Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

3/2/2020 New Issuance 69,062,500 Common 0.00 Yes
Dr. Mel 

Ehrlich

Pref A 

Conversion
Restricted None

3/2/2020 New Issuance 62,500,000 Common 0.00 Yes
Elizabeth 

Ehrlich 

Kellogg

Pref A 

Conversion
Restricted None

3/2/2020 New Issuance 62,500,000 Common 0.00 Yes James Ehrlich
Pref A 

Conversion
Restricted None

3/5/2020 New Issuance 9,000,000 Common 0.00 Yes
EW Partners 

Ltd

Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

4/2/2020 New Issuance 890,060 Common 0.00 Yes

Pivo 

Associates, 

Inc./Richard 

Oravec

Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

4/2/2020 New Issuance 10,000,000 Common 0.00 Yes
Vantage 

Consulting Ltd

Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

4/2/2020 New Issuance 9,500,000 Common 0.00 Yes Marc Weber
Debt 

Conversion
Restricted None

3/25/2021 New Issuance 250,000 Common 0.00 Yes

Chrysalis 

Management, 

LLC

/ George 

Matarazzo

Preferred 

Stock 

Conversion

Restricted None
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There was one preferred stock issuances/transaction during the past two years: 

 

 
* The Preferred Stock had no market price at dates of issuance. 

 

Shares Outstanding Ending Balance 
On March 31, 2021 Common: 463,424,470 
 Preferred Class A 92,625  
 Preferred Class B -0- 

 

 

 
 

 

B. Debt Securities, Including Promissory and Convertible Notes 

Use the chart and additional space below to list and describe all outstanding promissory notes, 

convertible notes, convertible debentures, or any other debt instruments that may be converted into a 

class of the issuer’s equity securities. 

Check this box if there are no outstanding promissory, convertible notes or debt arrangements: ☒ 

4. Financial Statements 
A. The following financial statements were prepared in accordance with: 

[X] US GAAP [ ] IFRS 

B. The financial statements for this reporting period 

were prepared by:  JDDA CPA, LLC 

C. No relationship to Issuer 
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Provide the financial statements described below for the most recent fiscal year or 
quarter. For the initial   disclosure statement (qualifying for Pink Current Information for 
the first time) please provide reports for the two previous fiscal years and any 
subsequent interim periods. 

D. Balance sheet; 

E. Statement of income; 

F. Statement of cash flows; 

G. Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity; 

H. Financial Notes; 

I. General and Administration Costs; 
 

5. Issuer’s Business, Products and Services. 

Forward-Looking Statements 
This section of the report includes a number of forward-looking statements within the 
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, and Section 21E of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 that reflect our current views with respect to future events and 
financial performance. Forward looking statements are often identified by words like: 
believe, expect, estimate, anticipate, intend, project and similar expressions, or words 
which, by their nature, refer to future events. You should not place undue reliance on these 
forward-looking statements, which apply only as of the date of this report. These forward-
looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from historical results or our predictions. Although we believe 
the expectations reflected in these forward- looking statements are reasonable, such 
expectations cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or 
achievements. 

 
Forward-looking statements included in this report and all subsequent written or oral 
forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly 
qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. The forward-looking statements 
speak only as of the date made, other than as required by law, and we undertake no 
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward- looking statements, whether because 
of new information, future events or otherwise. 

 
RISK FACTORS 

 
Risks Related to Business 

 
We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to accurately evaluate our business 

prospects.  

Our limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our business and prospects.  Both 

our vaping business and our NanoNOx™ are in the preliminary stages and we face 

competition from bigger and better capitalized competitors. You must consider our 
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business and prospects in light of the risks and uncertainties we shall  continue to encounter 

as a company with an unproven business model. These risks and uncertainties include 

those risks disclosed throughout this Risk Factors section. Any failure to address these 

risks and uncertainties successfully would seriously harm our business and prospects. 

 
We incurred an operating gain of approximately $2,178 for fiscal year 2021 and incurred an 

operating            gain of approximately $528,463 for fiscal year 2020.  We have had cumulative net 

losses since our inception of $830,770. Currently our liabilities exceed our assets. We 

believe that we may continue to incur operating and net losses. If we are to ever achieve 

consistent profitability it will be dependent upon   growth in our sales, and the successful 

development, commercial introduction and acceptance of our products, which may not 

occur. 

 
Because we will incur the costs and expenses of these efforts before we receive any 

incremental revenues with respect thereto, our losses in future periods will be significantly 

greater than the losses we would incur if we developed our business more slowly. In 

addition, we may find that these efforts are more expensive than we currently anticipate or 

that these efforts may not result in increases in our revenues, which would further increase 

our losses. 

 
• develop, maintain and strengthen our relationships with customers; 

• augment and improve marketing channels to attract customers to use our products; 

• improve our operational, financial and management controls and 
reporting systems and             procedures; 

• identify gaps in our industry that can be exploited; 

• respond effectively to competition; increase profit margins; and 

• respond to government regulations relating to our industry and other aspects of our 
business. 

 
Risks Related to the Development, Regulatory Approval and Commercialization of 

our Current and Future Product Candidates 

Drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes, and results from 

earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future trial results. 

Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is 

inherently uncertain.  Failure or delay can occur at any time during the clinical trial process. 

Success in preclinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials 

will be successful. Some companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries 

have suffered significant setbacks in clinical trials, even  following promising results in 

earlier preclinical studies or clinical trials. These setbacks have been caused by,  among other 

things, preclinical findings made while clinical trials were underway and safety or efficacy 

observations made in clinical trials, including previously unreported adverse events. The 
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results of     preclinical studies and early clinical trials of our product candidates may not be 

predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials. Product candidates in later stages of 

clinical trials may fail to show the required safety profile or meet the efficacy endpoints 

despite having progressed through preclinical studies and initial clinical trials. 

Notwithstanding any potential promising results in earlier testing, we cannot be certain that 

we will not face similar setbacks. Even if our clinical trials are completed, the results may 

not be sufficient to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates. 

We have recently paused animal studies of NanoNOx due to personnel issues in the New 

York facility of our research and development related party NMB Therapeutics, Inc. (“NMB”) 

as well as lack of access to the NMB laboratory owing to a contractual disagreement with 

NVI’s former Joint Venture partner and NMB’s prior landlord. We may experience delays in 

completing and initiating these ongoing and planned trials and we cannot be certain 

whether the trials or any other future clinical trials for our product candidates will begin on 

time, may need to be redesigned, will enroll an adequate number of patients on time or be 

completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be delayed or terminated for a variety of 

reasons, including delays or failures related to: 

 
• the FDA disagreeing with the design or implementation of our clinical trials; 

 
• reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research 

organizations, or CROs, and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject 

to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and 

trial sites; 
 

• obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, approval at each site; 

 
• the safety profiles of our product candidates; 

 
• recruiting suitable patients to participate in a trial; 

 
• having patients complete a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up; 

 
• clinical sites deviating from trial protocol; 

 
• addressing patient safety concerns that arise during the course of a trial; 

 
• adding a sufficient number of clinical trial sites; or 

 
• manufacturing sufficient quantities of product candidate for use in clinical trials. 



13 
 

We could also encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us, by the 

IRBs of the institutions in which such trials are being conducted, by the Data Safety 

Monitoring Board, or DSMB, for such trial or by the FDA or other regulatory authorities. 

Such authorities may suspend or terminate a clinical trial due to a number of factors, 

including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or 

our clinical protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by  the FDA or 

other regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety 

issues or adverse events, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a drug, changes in 

governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate funding to continue 

the clinical trial. 

If we experience delays in the completion, or termination, of any clinical trial of our product 

candidates, the commercial prospects of our product candidates may be harmed, and our 

ability to generate product revenues from any of these product candidates will be delayed 

or not realized at all. Any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow 

down our product candidate development and approval process and jeopardize our ability 

to commence product sales and generate revenues. Any of these occurrences may 

significantly harm our business, financial condition and prospects. In addition, many of the 

factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may 

also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates. 

We have never conducted a Phase 1 clinical trial before and may be unable to successfully do so for any 

of our product candidates. 

The conduct of a Phase 1 clinical trial is a complex process that differs from proof of concept 

conducted in     earlier experiments in a laboratory setting. While some of our employees have 

conducted Phase 1 clinical         trials in the past while employed at different companies, we, as a 

company, have not conducted a Phase 1   clinical trial before, and as a result, may require 

more time and incur greater costs than we anticipated. Failure to complete, or delays 

experienced in, our clinical trials, or failure to commence any planned clinical trials would 

prevent us from, or delay us in, obtaining regulatory approval of and commercializing           our 

product candidates. 

If we encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our clinical development activities 

could be delayed or otherwise adversely affected. 

The timely completion of clinical trials in accordance with their protocols depends on, among 

other things, our ability to enroll a sufficient number of patients who remain in the trial until 

its conclusion. We may experience difficulties in patient enrollment in our clinical trials for a 

variety of reasons. The enrollment of             patients depends on many factors, including: 

• the patient eligibility criteria defined in the protocol; 

 
• the size of the patient population required for analysis of the trial’s primary end. 
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points; 

 
• the proximity of patients to trial sites; 

 
• the design of the trial; 

 
• our ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate 

competencies and  experience; 

 
• clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the 

product candidate being studied in relation to other available therapies, 

including any new drugs that may be approved for the indications we are 

investigating; 

 
• our ability to obtain patient consents; and 

 
• the risk that patients enrolled in clinical trials will drop out of the trials before 

completion. 

In addition, our clinical trials will compete for the recruitment of patients with other clinical 

trials for product candidates that are in the same therapeutic areas as our product 

candidates, and this competition will reduce the number and types of patients available to us, 

because some patients who might have opted  to enroll in our trials may instead opt to enroll 

in a trial being conducted by one of our competitors. 

Delays in patient enrollment may result in increased costs, which would adversely impact our 

statement of operations and cash flows or may affect the timing or outcome of the planned 

clinical trials, which could prevent completion of these trials and adversely affect our ability to 

advance the development of our product candidates and hurt our competitive position. 

We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to 

capitalize on product candidates or indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater 

likelihood of success. 

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we intend to focus on developing 

product candidates for specific indications that we identify as most likely to succeed, in terms 

of their potential both to gain regulatory approval and to achieve commercialization. As a 

result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or in 

other indications with greater commercial potential. 

Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial 

products or profitable market opportunities. Our spending on current and future research and 

development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any 
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commercially viable product candidates. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial 

potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights 

to that product candidate through collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in 

cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole development and 

commercialization rights to the product candidate. 

Our product candidates may pose safety issues, cause adverse events or have other properties that could 

delay or prevent their regulatory approval, limit the commercial profile of an approved label, or result in 

significant negative consequences following marketing approval, if any. 

We, any partner with whom we may collaborate in the future or the FDA may suspend, delay, 

require modifications to or terminate our clinical trials at any time, for various reasons, 

including the discovery of serious or unexpected toxicities or other safety issues experienced 

by trial participants. 

In addition, adverse events caused by our product candidates could cause us or regulatory 

authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label 

or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory 

authorities. Results of our clinical trials could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and 

prevalence of adverse events or unexpected characteristics. 

If safety issues or unacceptable adverse events arise in the development of our product 

candidates, we, the FDA, the IRBs at the institutions in which our trials are conducted, or the 

DSMB could suspend or terminate our clinical trials or the FDA or comparable foreign 

regulatory authorities could order us to cease clinical trials or deny approval of our product 

candidates for any or all targeted indications. Treatment-related adverse events could also 

affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in 

potential product liability claims. In addition, these adverse events may not be appropriately 

recognized or managed by the treating medical staff. 

Any of the foregoing events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance 

of the particular product candidate, if approved, and may result in the loss of significant revenues 

to us, which would materially and adversely affect our results of operations and business. 

The regulatory approval processes of the FDA are lengthy, time-consuming and inherently unpredictable, 

and if we are ultimately unable to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, our business 

will be substantially harmed. 

The time required to obtain approval by the FDA is unpredictable but typically takes many 

years following the commencement of clinical trials and depends upon numerous factors, 

including the substantial discretion of the regulatory authorities. In addition, approval 

policies, regulations, or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may 

change during a product candidate’s clinical development and may vary among jurisdictions. 

We have not obtained regulatory approval for any product  candidate and it is possible that 

none of our existing product candidates or any product candidates we may seek to develop in 
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the future will ever obtain regulatory approval. Neither we nor any future collaborator is 

permitted to market any of our product candidates in the United States until we receive 

regulatory approval of an NDA from the FDA. 

Prior to obtaining approval to commercialize a product candidate in the United States or 

abroad, we or our collaborators must demonstrate with substantial evidence from well-

controlled clinical trials, and to the satisfaction of the FDA, that such product candidates are 

safe and effective for their intended uses. Results from preclinical studies and clinical trials 

can be interpreted in different ways. Even if we believe the preclinical or clinical data for our 

product candidates are promising, such data may not be sufficient to support approval by 

the FDA and other regulatory authorities. The FDA may also require us to conduct additional 

preclinical studies or clinical trials for our product candidates either prior to or post-

approval, or it may object to elements of our clinical development program. 

The FDA can delay, limit or deny approval of our product candidates or require us to conduct 

additional preclinical or clinical testing or abandon a program for many reasons, including: 

 
• the FDA’s disagreement with the design or implementation of our clinical trials; 

 
• negative or ambiguous results from our clinical trials or results that may not 

meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA for approval; 

 
• serious and unexpected drug-related adverse events experienced by 

participants in our clinical trials or by individuals using drugs similar to 

our product candidates; 

 
• our inability to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA that our product 

candidates are safe and effective for the proposed indication; 

 
• the FDA’s disagreement with the interpretation of data from preclinical 

studies or clinical          trials; 

 
• our inability to demonstrate that the clinical and other benefits of our 

product candidates outweigh any safety or other perceived risks; 

 
• the FDA’s requirement for additional preclinical studies or clinical trials; 

• the FDA’s disagreement regarding the formulation, labeling or the 

specifications of our product candidates; 

 
• the FDA’s agency’s failure to approve the manufacturing processes or facilities 

of third-party manufacturers with which we contract; or 
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• the potential for approval policies or regulations of the FDA to 

significantly change in a manner rendering our clinical data insufficient 

for approval. 

Of the large number of drugs in development, only a small percentage successfully complete 

the FDA approval process and become commercialized. The lengthy approval process as well 

as the unpredictability of outcomes from future clinical trials may result in our failing to 

obtain regulatory approval to market our product candidates. 

Even if we eventually complete clinical testing and receive approval of an NDA or foreign 

marketing application for our product candidates, the FDA may grant approval contingent 

on the performance of costly additional clinical trials, including Phase 4 clinical trials, or the 

implementation of a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, which may be required 

to ensure safe use of the drug after approval. The FDA also may approve a product candidate 

for a more limited indication or patient population than we originally requested, and the 

FDA may not approve the labeling that we believe is necessary or desirable for the successful 

commercialization of a product candidate. Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain, 

applicable regulatory approval would delay or prevent commercialization of that product 

candidate. 

Regulatory approval of our product candidates by foreign regulatory authorities may be delayed or 

denied. We may be subject to pricing controls imposed by foreign governments and regulatory 

authorities. 

We may seek regulatory approval of our product candidates from foreign regulatory 

authorities in the future. Such regulatory authorities may impose additional regulations and 

guidelines that differ in form and substance from those imposed by their counterparts in the 

United States and with which we are more familiar. Accordingly, the regulatory approval of 

our product candidates in those foreign jurisdictions could be delayed, limited or denied 

altogether. This could limit the scope of or prevent the commercialization of our products in 

the future and adversely affect our financial performance. 

Further, in some countries, the pricing of pharmaceutical prescriptions is subject to 

governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities 

can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product candidate. 

In addition, there can be considerable pressure by governments and other stakeholders on 

prices and reimbursement levels, including as part of cost containment measures. Political, 

economic and regulatory developments may further complicate pricing negotiations, and 

pricing negotiations may continue after coverage and reimbursement have been obtained. 

Reference pricing used by various countries and parallel distribution or arbitrage between 

low- priced and high-priced countries can further reduce prices. To obtain reimbursement 

or pricing approval  in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that 
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compares the cost-effectiveness of our product candidate to other available therapies, which 

is time-consuming and costly. If coverage and reimbursement of our product candidates 

are unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, 

our business could be harmed. 

Even if our current product candidates or any future product candidates obtain regulatory approval, they 

may fail to achieve the broad degree of physician and patient adoption and use necessary for commercial 

success. 

The commercial success of any of our current or future product candidates, if approved, will 

depend significantly on the broad adoption and use of the resulting product by physicians 

and patients for approved indications. Our product candidates may not be commercially 

successful. The degree and rate of physician and patient adoption of our current or future 

product candidates, if approved, will depend on a number of factors, including: 

 
• the clinical indications for which the product is approved and patient 

demand for approved   products that treat those indications; 

 
• the effectiveness of our product as compared to other available therapies; 

 
• the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from managed care 

plans and other healthcare payors for any of our product candidates that may 

be approved; 

 
• the cost of treatment with our product candidates in relation to alternative 

treatments and willingness to pay for the product, if approved, on the part of 

patients; 

 
• acceptance by physicians, major operators of clinics and patients of the 

product as a safe and effective treatment; 

 
• physician and patient willingness to adopt a new therapy over other 

available therapies to treat approved indications; 

 
• overcoming any biases physicians or patients may have toward particular 

therapies for the treatment of approved indications; 

 
• patient satisfaction with the results and administration of our product 

candidates and overall treatment experience; 

 
• the willingness of patients to pay for certain of our product candidates 
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relative to other discretionary items, especially during economically 

challenging times; 

 
• the revenue and profitability that our product candidates may offer a 

physician as compared to alternative therapies; 

 
• the prevalence and severity of adverse events; 

 

• limitations or warnings contained in the FDA-approved labeling for our product 
candidates; 

 
• any FDA requirement to undertake a REMS; 

 
• the effectiveness of our sales, marketing and distribution efforts; 

 
• adverse publicity about our product candidates or favorable publicity 

about competitive products; and 

 
• potential product liability claims. 

If any of our current or future product candidates are approved for use but fail to achieve the 

broad degree of physician and patient adoption necessary for commercial success, our 

operating results and financial condition will be adversely affected, which may delay, prevent 

or limit our ability to generate revenue and continue our business. 

Even if we make a submission under a special protocol assessment, or SPA, from the FDA, there is no 

guarantee that we will obtain agreement from the FDA on the SPA. Even if we do obtain the FDA’s 

agreement, an SPA would not guarantee approval of any of our product candidates or any other particular 

outcome from regulatory review. 

We currently do not have an SPA in place with respect to any of our product candidates. 

The FDA’s SPA process is designed to facilitate the FDA’s review and approval of drugs by 

allowing the FDA      to evaluate the proposed design and size of clinical trials that are intended 

to form the primary basis for determining a drug product’s efficacy. Upon specific request by 

a clinical trial sponsor, the FDA will evaluate the protocol and respond to a sponsor’s 

questions regarding, among other things, primary efficacy endpoints, trial conduct and data 

analysis, within 45 days of receipt of the request. The FDA ultimately assesses whether the 

protocol design and planned analysis of the trial are acceptable to support regulatory 

approval of the product candidate with respect to the effectiveness of the indication studied. 

All agreements     and disagreements between the FDA and the sponsor regarding an SPA must 

be clearly documented in an SPA letter or the minutes of a meeting between the sponsor and 

the FDA. 
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Even if the FDA agrees to the SPA, an SPA agreement does not guarantee approval of a 

product candidate. Even if the FDA agrees to the design, execution, and analysis proposed in 

protocols reviewed under the SPA process, the FDA may revoke or alter its agreement in 

certain circumstances. In particular, an SPA agreement is not binding on the FDA if public 

health concerns emerge that were unrecognized at the time of the SPA agreement, other new 

scientific concerns regarding product safety or efficacy arise, the sponsor company fails to 

comply with the agreed upon trial protocols, or the relevant data, assumptions or 

information provided by the sponsor in a request for the SPA change or are found to be false 

or omit relevant facts. In addition, even after an SPA agreement is finalized, the SPA 

agreement may be modified, and such modification will be deemed binding on the FDA 

review division, except under the circumstances described above, if the FDA and the sponsor 

agree in writing to modify the protocol and such modification is intended to improve the 

study. The FDA retains significant latitude and discretion in interpreting the terms of the 

SPA agreement and the data and results from any study that is the subject of the SPA 

agreement. 

Moreover, if the FDA revokes or alters its agreement under the SPA, or interprets the data 

collected from the clinical trial differently than we do, the FDA may not deem the data 

sufficient to support an application for regulatory approval. 

Our product candidates may cause side effects which could delay or prevent their commercialization. 

If any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, and we or other companies 

developing other nitric oxide-based therapies identify undesirable side effects caused by 

such products, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, 

including: 

 
• regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product; 

 
• we may be required to recall a product or change the way such product is 

administered to patients; 

 
• additional restrictions may be imposed on the marketing of the particular 

product or the manufacturing processes for the product or any component 

thereof; 

 
• regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such 

as a ‘‘black box’’ warning or a contraindication; 

 
• we may be required to implement a REMS or create a Medication Guide 

outlining the risks of such adverse events for distribution to patients; 



21 
 

 
• we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; 

 
• the product may become less competitive; and 

 
• our reputation may suffer. 

We expect to educate and train medical personnel so they know how to use our product 

candidates to understand their potential side effect profiles. Inadequate training in 

recognizing or managing the potential side effects of our product candidates could result in 

patient injury. 

If we are unable to establish sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for our product candidates or 

any future product candidate that receives regulatory approval, we may not be successful in 

commercializing those product candidates, if approved. 

We do not currently have a sales, marketing or distribution infrastructure in place. To achieve 

commercial success for any product candidate for which we may obtain marketing approval, 

we will need to establish a sales, marketing and distribution framework. In the future, we 

expect to build a focused sales, marketing   and distribution infrastructure to market any of 

our product candidates in the United States. There are risks involved with establishing our 

own sales, marketing and distribution capabilities. For example, recruiting and training a 

sales force is expensive and time-consuming and could delay market uptake. If the commercial 

launch of a product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and establish marketing 

capabilities is delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have prematurely or 

unnecessarily incurred these commercialization expenses. This may be costly, and our 

investment would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing 

personnel. 

Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize our products on our own include: 

 
• our inability to recruit, train and retain adequate numbers of effective sales 

and marketing   personnel; 

 
• the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to physicians or persuade 

adequate numbers of physicians to prescribe any future products; 

 
• the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which 

may put us at a competitive disadvantage relative to companies with more 

extensive product lines; and 

 
• unforeseen costs and expenses associated with creating an independent sales 



22 
 

and marketing organization. 

If we are unable to establish our own sales, marketing and distribution capabilities and enter 

into arrangements with third parties to perform these services, this could, in turn, decrease 

our revenue and our profitability. In addition, we may not be successful in entering into 

arrangements with third parties to sell, market and distribute our product candidates or may 

be unable to do so on terms that are favorable to us. We may not have adequate control over 

such third parties, and any of them may fail to devote the necessary resources and attention 

to sell and market our products effectively. If we do not establish sales, marketing and 

distribution capabilities successfully, either on our own or in collaboration with third 

parties, we will not be successful in commercializing our product candidates. 

Additionally, we are currently evaluating strategic partnerships to commercialize our Nitric 

Oxide powder inhaled products in select international markets. We may not be sufficiently 

familiar or have the requisite resources to penetrate international markets where some of 

our competitors have already achieved broad recognition and have established 

commercialization strategies in place. Moreover, we may not succeed in targeting healthcare 

providers, including physicians. 

Our product candidates, if approved, will face significant competition and our failure to effectively 

compete may prevent us from achieving significant market penetration. 

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense 

competition and a strong emphasis on developing proprietary therapeutics. Numerous 

companies are engaged in the development, patenting, manufacturing and marketing of 

healthcare products competitive with those that we are developing. We face competition 

from a number of sources, such as pharmaceutical companies, generic drug companies, 

biotechnology companies and academic and research institutions, many of which have 

greater financial resources, marketing capabilities, sales forces, manufacturing capabilities, 

research and development capabilities, clinical trial expertise, intellectual property 

portfolios, experience in obtaining patents and regulatory approvals for product candidates 

and other resources than we do. Some of the companies that offer competing products also 

have a broad range of other product offerings, large direct sales forces and long-term 

customer relationships with our target physicians, which could inhibit our market 

penetration efforts. In addition, certain of our product candidates, if approved, may compete 

with other products, including over-the- counter treatments, for a share of some patients’ 

discretionary budgets and for physicians’ attention within their clinical practices. 

Even if we obtain marketing approval for any product candidates, the products may become subject to 

unfavorable third- party coverage or reimbursement policies, which would harm our business. 

The success of our product candidates, if approved, depends on the availability of adequate 

coverage and reimbursement from government authorities and third-party payors, such as 

private health insurers and health maintenance organizations. Patients who are provided 
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medical treatment for their conditions generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all 

or part of the costs associated with their treatment. Adequate coverage and reimbursement 

from governmental healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial 

payors is critical to product acceptance. 

Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health 

maintenance organizations, decide which drugs and treatments they will cover and the 

amount of reimbursement that will be provided. Coverage decisions may depend on clinical 

and economic standards that disfavor new products when more established or lower cost 

therapeutic alternatives are already available or subsequently become available. Third-

party payors may refuse to include a particular branded product in their formularies or lists 

of medications for which third-party payors provide coverage and reimbursement, or 

otherwise restrict patient access through formulary controls or otherwise to a branded 

product when a less costly generic equivalent or other alternative is available. Coverage may 

be more limited than the purposes for which a product is approved by the FDA or similar 

regulatory authorities outside the United States. 

Assuming we obtain coverage for a given product, the resulting reimbursement rates might 

not be adequate to cover our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale and 

distribution, or achieve or sustain profitability, or may require co-payments that patients 

find unacceptably high. Patients are unlikely to use our products unless coverage is provided 

and reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion of the cost of our product 

candidates. Patients are unlikely to use our products unless coverage is provided and 

reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion of the cost of our product 

candidates. Increasingly, third-party payors are requiring that pharmaceutical companies 

provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices 

charged for products. There is significant uncertainty related to insurance coverage and 

reimbursement of newly approved products. It is difficult to predict at this time what third-

party payors will decide with respect to the coverage and reimbursement for our product 

candidates 

In the United States, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for products exists 

among third- party payors. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for a product can differ 

significantly from payor to payor. As a result, obtaining and maintaining coverage and 

reimbursement for a product from a government or other third- party payor is a time-

consuming and costly process that could require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical 

and cost-effectiveness data for the use of our products to each payor separately, with no 

assurance that adequate coverage and reimbursement will be applied consistently or 

obtained in the first instance. 

Governmental and third-party payors in the United States and abroad are developing 

increasingly sophisticated methods of controlling healthcare costs. Further, we believe that 
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future coverage and reimbursement will likely be subject to increased restrictions both in the 

United States and in international markets. Third-party coverage and reimbursement for our 

product candidates for which we may receive regulatory approval may not be available, 

limited, or adequate in either the United States or international markets. 

 

We may face product liability exposure, and if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur 

substantial liability if our insurance coverage for those claims is inadequate. 

We will face an inherent risk of product liability as a result of any clinical testing of our 

product candidates and will face an even greater risk if we commercialize any products. This 

risk exists even if a product is approved for commercial sale by the FDA and manufactured in 

facilities licensed and regulated by the FDA or an applicable foreign regulatory authority. Our 

product candidates are designed to affect important bodily functions and processes. Any 

adverse events, manufacturing defects, misuse or abuse associated with our product 

candidates could result in injury to a patient or even death. We cannot offer any assurance that 

we will not face product liability suits in the future, as of the time of this offering we carry no 

insurance coverage to cover our liability under any such cases. 

In addition, a liability claim may be brought against us even if our product candidates merely 

appear to have caused an injury. Product liability claims may be brought against us by 

consumers, healthcare providers, pharmaceutical companies or others selling or otherwise 

coming into contact with our product candidates, among others. If we cannot successfully 

defend ourselves against product liability claims we will incur substantial liabilities and 

reputational harm. In addition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability 

claims may result in: 

 
• withdrawal of clinical trial participants; 

 
• decreased enrollment rates of clinical trial participants; 

 
• termination of clinical trial sites or entire trial programs; 

 
• the inability to commercialize our product candidates; 

 
• decreased demand for our product candidates; 

 

• impairment of our business reputation; 

 
• product recall or withdrawal from the market or labeling, marketing 

or promotional restrictions; 

• substantial costs of any related litigation or similar disputes; 
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• distraction of management’s attention and other resources from our primary 

business; 

 
• substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants against us that may 

not be covered by insurance; or 

 
• loss of revenue. 

A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could cause our 

stock price to decline, could decrease our cash, negatively impact our statement of 

operations and could harm our financial condition or totally wipe out the company, forcing 

it to seek bankruptcy protection. 

If and when we market our product candidates, our relationships with healthcare providers, customers 

and third-party payors, as well as our general business operations, may be subject to applicable anti-

kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, and failure to comply with such 

regulations could expose us to penalties including criminal sanctions, civil penalties, exclusion from 

government healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and 

future earnings. 

Healthcare providers, customers and third-party payors will play a primary role in the 

recommendation and prescription of any product candidates for which we may obtain 

marketing approval. Our future arrangements with third-party payors, healthcare providers 

and customers and our general operations may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and 

abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial 

arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute any product 

candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under applicable federal 

and state healthcare laws and regulations may include the following: 

 
• the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons 

and entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or 

providing remuneration, directly         or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or 

reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, 

order or recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be 

made, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare 

and Medicaid. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the 

federal Anti-Kickback Statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have 

committed a violation. 

 

• the federal false claims and civil monetary penalties laws, including the civil 

False Claims Act, which impose criminal and civil penalties, including through 



26 
 

civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals or entities for 

knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, 

claims for payment that are false or fraudulent or knowingly making a false 

statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal 

government; in addition, the government may assert that a claim including 

items and services resulting from a violation of the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback 

Statute constitutes a false of fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims 

Act; 

 
• the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or 

HIPAA, which imposes criminal and civil liability for, among other things, 

executing or attempting to execute a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit 

program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters. Similar to 

the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual 

knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have 

committed a violation; 

 
• HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and 

Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, and their implementing regulations, which also 

imposes obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, on certain types of 

people and entities with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and 

transmission of individually identifiable health information; 

 
• the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which requires manufacturers of 

drugs, devices,  biologics and medical supplies for which payment is available 

under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with 

certain exceptions) to report annually to the government information related to 

certain payments or other ‘‘transfers of value’’ made to physicians (defined to 

include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors) and 

teaching hospitals, and requires applicable manufacturers to report annually to 

the government ownership and investment interests held by the physicians 

described above and their immediate family members and payments or other 

‘‘transfers of value’’ to such physician owners; and 

 
• analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback 

and false claims laws, which may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and 

claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental 

third-party payors, including private insurers; state laws that require 

pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s 

voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance 
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promulgated by the federal government; state laws that require drug 

manufacturers  to report information related to payments and other transfers of 

value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; 

and state and foreign laws governing the privacy and security of health 

information in some circumstances, many of which differ from each other in 

significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating 

compliance efforts. 

Efforts to ensure that our internal operations and business arrangements with third parties 

comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It is 

possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not 

comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and 

abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. The risk of our being found in violation of 

these laws is increased by the fact that many of them have not been fully interpreted by the 

regulatory authorities or the courts, and their provisions are open to a variety of 

interpretations. Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the statutory 

exceptions and safe harbors available under such laws, it is possible that some of our 

business activities, including our relationships with physicians and other healthcare 

providers, some of whom will recommend, purchase or prescribe our products, could be 

subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. 

 
If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental 

laws and regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal 

and administrative penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion of products from 

government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, disgorgement, 

contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and the curtailment or 

restructuring of our operations. If any of the physicians or other healthcare providers or 

entities with whom we expect to do business is found to be not in compliance with applicable 

laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions 

from government funded healthcare programs, which would adversely impact our statement 

of operations and cash flows. 

Risks Related to Manufacturing and our Reliance on Third Parties 

We rely on third parties to conduct some of our preclinical studies and all of our anticipated clinical trials. 

If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we 

may be unable to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize any of our product candidates. 

We currently do not have the ability to independently conduct preclinical studies that 

comply with the regulatory requirements known as good laboratory practice, or GLP, 

requirements. We also do not            currently have the ability to independently conduct any 

clinical trials. The FDA and regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions require us to comply 

with regulations and standards, commonly referred to as good clinical practice, or GCP, 
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requirements for conducting, monitoring, recording and reporting the results of clinical 

trials, in order to ensure that the data and results are scientifically credible and accurate and 

that the trial subjects are adequately informed of the potential risks of participating in clinical 

trials. We rely on medical institutions, clinical investigators, contract laboratories and other 

third parties, such as contract research organizations, or CROs, to conduct GLP-compliant 

preclinical studies and GCP-compliant clinical trials on our product candidates properly and 

on time. While we will have agreements governing their activities, we control only certain 

aspects of their activities and have limited influence over their actual performance. The third 

parties with whom we contract for execution of our GLP preclinical studies and our GCP 

clinical trials play a significant role in the conduct of these studies and trials and the 

subsequent collection and analysis of data. These third parties are not our employees and, 

except for restrictions imposed by our contracts with such third parties, we have limited 

ability to control the amount or timing of resources that they devote to our programs. 

Although we rely on these third parties to conduct our GLP-compliant preclinical studies 

and GCP-compliant clinical trials, we remain responsible for ensuring that each of our GLP 

preclinical studies and clinical trials is conducted in accordance with its investigational plan 

and protocol and applicable laws and regulations, and our reliance on the CROs does not 

relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. In addition, if any of our CROs terminate their 

involvement with us for any reason, we may not be able to enter into similar arrangements 

with alternative CROs within a short period of time, or do so on commercially reasonable 

terms. 

Many of the third parties with whom we contract may also have relationships with other 

commercial entities, including our competitors, for whom they may also be conducting 

clinical trials or other drug development activities that could harm our competitive position. 

In addition, since the number of qualified clinical investigators is limited, we expect to 

conduct some of our clinical trials at the same clinical trial sites that some of our competitors 

use, which will reduce the number of patients who are available for our clinical trials in such 

clinical trial site. If the third parties conducting our GLP preclinical studies or our clinical 

trials do not perform their contractual duties or obligations, experience work stoppages, do 

not meet expected deadlines, terminate their agreements with us or need to be replaced, or 

if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to their failure 

to adhere to our clinical trial protocols or to GCPs, or for any other reason, we may need to 

enter into new arrangements with alternative third parties. This could be difficult, costly or 

impossible, and our preclinical studies or clinical trials may need to be extended, delayed, 

terminated or repeated. As a result, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval in a 

timely fashion, or at all, for the applicable product candidate, our financial results and the 

commercial prospects for our product candidates would be harmed, our costs could 

increase, and our ability to generate revenues could be delayed. 

In addition, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or 



29 
 

consultants to us from time to time and may receive cash or equity compensation in 

connection with such services. If these relationships and any related compensation result in 

perceived or actual conflicts of interest, or the  FDA concludes that the financial relationship 

may have affected the interpretation of the trial, the integrity of the data generated at the 

applicable clinical trial site may be questioned and the utility of the clinical trial  itself may be 

jeopardized, which could result in the delay or rejection by the FDA of any NDA we submit. 

Any such delay or rejection could prevent us from commercializing our future product 

candidates. 

We rely on third parties to manufacture our clinical drug supplies and we intend to rely on third parties 

to produce commercial supplies of any approved product candidate, and our commercialization of any of 

our product candidates could be stopped, delayed or made less profitable if those third parties fail to 

obtain approval of the FDA or comparable regulatory authorities, fail to provide us with sufficient 

quantities of drug product or fail to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices. 

We do not currently have nor do we plan to acquire the infrastructure or capability internally 

to completely manufacture our clinical drug supplies for use in the conduct of our clinical 

trials, and we lack the resources and the capability to manufacture any of our product 

candidates on a clinical or commercial scale. While we currently manufacture the active drug 

substance in our own facilities, we rely on third parties to manufacture the finished drug 

product. The facilities used by our contract manufacturers to manufacture our product 

candidates must be approved by the FDA pursuant to inspections that will be conducted after 

we submit our NDA to the FDA. We do not control the manufacturing process of, and 

are completely dependent on, our contract manufacturing partners for compliance with the 

regulatory requirements, known as current good manufacturing practice, or cGMP, 

requirements for manufacture of drug products. If our contract manufacturers cannot 

successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the strict 

regulatory requirements of the FDA or others, they will not be able to secure or maintain 

regulatory approval for their manufacturing facilities. In addition, we have no control over 

the ability of our contract manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control, quality 

assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority 

does not approve these facilities for the manufacture of our product candidates or if it 

withdraws any such approval in the future, we may need to find alternative manufacturing 

facilities, which would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval 

for or market our product candidates, if approved. 

We rely on third-party manufacturers to purchase from third-party suppliers the materials 

necessary to produce our product candidates for our clinical trials. There are a limited 

number of suppliers for some raw materials that we use to manufacture our drugs and there 

may be a need to assess alternate suppliers to prevent a possible disruption of the 

manufacture of the materials necessary to produce our product candidates for our clinical 

trials, and if approved, ultimately for commercial sale. We do not have any control over the 
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process or timing of the acquisition of these raw materials by our manufacturers.             Moreover, 

we currently do not have any agreements for the commercial production of these raw 

materials. Although we generally do not begin a clinical trial unless we believe we have a 

sufficient supply of a product candidate to complete the clinical trial, any significant delay in 

the supply of a product candidate, or the raw material components thereof, for an ongoing 

clinical trial due to the need to replace a third-party manufacturer could considerably delay 

completion of our clinical trials, product testing and potential regulatory approval of our 

product candidates. If our manufacturers or we are unable to purchase these raw materials, 

including nitric oxide after regulatory approval has been obtained for our product 

candidates, the commercial launch of our product candidates would be delayed or there 

would be a shortage in supply, which would impair our ability to generate revenues from 

the sale of our product candidates. 

 
We expect to continue to depend on third-party contract manufacturers for the foreseeable 

future. We have not entered into long-term agreements with our current contract 

manufacturers or with any alternate suppliers, and though we intend to do so prior to 

commercial launch in order to ensure that we maintain adequate supplies of finished drug 

product, we may be unable to enter into such an agreement or do so on commercially 

reasonable terms. We currently obtain our supplies of finished drug product through 

individual purchase orders. 

Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, CROs, consultants, commercial 

partners and vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance 

with regulatory standards and requirements, which could expose us to liability and hurt our reputation. 

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, principal 

investigators, CROs, consultants, commercial partners and vendors may engage in 

fraudulent conduct or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include 

intentional, reckless or negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to us that 

violates: (i) FDA laws and regulations, including those laws that require the reporting of true, 

complete and accurate information to the FDA, (ii) manufacturing standards, (iii) federal and 

state data privacy, security, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws, or (iv) laws that 

require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. Activities 

subject to these laws also involve the improper use or misrepresentation of information 

obtained in the course of clinical trials, creating fraudulent data in our preclinical studies or 

clinical trials or illegal misappropriation of drug product, which could result in regulatory 

sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. It is not always possible to identify and 

deter misconduct by employees and other third parties, and the precautions we take to 

detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged 

risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or 

lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. 
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Additionally, we are subject to the risk that a person or government could allege such fraud 

or other misconduct, even if none occurred. If any such actions are instituted against us, and 

we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have 

a significant impact on our business and financial results, including, without limitation, the 

imposition of significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary 

fines, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal 

healthcare programs, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and 

curtailment of our operations. 

Risks Related to Our Operations 

Our business involves the use of hazardous materials and we and our third-party suppliers and 

manufacturers must comply with environmental laws and regulations, which can be expensive and 

restrict how we do business. 

The manufacturing activities of our third-party suppliers and manufacturers involve the 

controlled storage, use and disposal of hazardous materials owned by us, including the 

components of our product candidates and other hazardous compounds. We and our 

manufacturers and suppliers are subject to laws and regulations governing the use, 

manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these hazardous materials. In some cases, 

these hazardous materials and various wastes resulting from their use are stored at our 

suppliers’ or manufacturers’ facilities pending use and disposal. We and our suppliers and 

manufacturers cannot completely eliminate the risk of contamination, which could cause an 

interruption of our commercialization efforts, research and development efforts and 

business operations, injury to our service providers and others and environmental damage 

resulting in costly clean-up and liabilities under applicable laws and regulations governing 

the use, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and specified waste products. 

Although we believe that the safety procedures utilized by our third-party suppliers and 

manufacturers for handling and disposing of these materials generally comply with the 

standards prescribed by these laws and regulations, we cannot guarantee that this is the case 

or eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. In such an 

event, we may be held liable for any resulting damages and such liability could exceed our 

financial resources. 

We specialize solely in developing nitric oxide-based therapeutics, and if we do not successfully 

achieve regulatory approval for any of our product candidates or successfully commercialize them, 

we may not be able to continue as a business. 

All of our clinical development efforts to date have focused on the development of nitric 

oxide-based therapies. There can be no assurance that the intended or anticipated results 

from the use of nitric oxide-based therapies will be reaped, and that we will successfully 

bring our product candidates to market. Because all of our current product candidates are 

based on nitric oxide technology, the failure of our NanoNOx technology to be safe or 

efficacious generally will have adverse implications for our entire product candidate 
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pipeline. If, for any reason, our intended use of nitric oxide does not materialize, we may not 

be able to redeploy our resources to alternative components or raw materials, efficiently or 

at all. 

Our business and operations would suffer in the event of computer system failures, cyber-attacks or 

deficiencies in our cyber- security. 

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems, and those 

of third parties on which we rely, are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, malware, 

natural disasters, terrorism, war, telecommunication and electrical failures, cyber-attacks or 

cyber-intrusions over the Internet, attachments to emails, persons inside our organization, 

or persons with access to systems inside our organization. The risk of a security breach or 

disruption, particularly through cyber-attacks or cyber intrusion, including by computer 

hackers, foreign governments, and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, 

intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have 

increased. If such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could 

result in a material disruption of our product development programs. For example, the loss 

of clinical trial   data from completed or ongoing or planned clinical trials could result in delays 

in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or 

reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security breach was to result in a 

loss of or damage to our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or 

proprietary information, we could incur material legal claims and liability, and damage to 

our reputation, and the further development of our product candidates could be delayed. 

 
Risks Related to Government Regulation 

Even if we receive regulatory approval of our product candidates, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory 

obligations and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense, and we 

may be subject to penalties, if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or experience unanticipated 

problems with our product candidates. 

Any regulatory approvals that we receive for our product candidates may be subject to 

limitations on the approved indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or the 

conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially costly post-market testing 

and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product candidate. The FDA may 

also require a REMS as a condition of approval of our product candidates, which could 

include requirements for a medication guide, physician communication plans or additional 

elements to ensure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and 

other risk minimization tools. In addition, if the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory 

authority approves our product candidates, the manufacturing processes, labeling, 

packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, import, 

export and recordkeeping for our product candidates will be subject to extensive and 

ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include submissions of safety and 
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other post-marketing information and reports, registration, as well as continued compliance 

with cGMPs and GCP requirements for any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval. 

Later  discovery of previously unknown problems with our product candidates, including 

adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with our third-party manufacturers 

or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result 

in, among other things: 

 
• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of our product candidates, 

withdrawal of the  product from the market, or voluntary or mandatory 

product recalls; 

 
• fines, warning letters or holds on clinical trials; 

 
• refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to 

approved applications filed by us or suspension or revocation of approvals; 

 
• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export 

of our product c    andidates; and 

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties. 

The FDA’s and other regulatory authorities’ policies may change and additional government 

regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our 

product candidates. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government 

regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the United 

States or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or 

the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory 

compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained and we may 

not achieve or sustain profitability. 

 
Recently enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing 

approval of and commercialize our product candidates and affect the prices we may obtain. 

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and we expect there 

will continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes 

regarding the healthcare system that could prevent or delay marketing approval of our 

product candidates, restrict or regulate post- approval activities and affect our ability to 

profitably sell any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. 

 
For example, in the United States, in 2010, President Obama signed into law the Patient 

Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education 

Reconciliation Act, or collectively the ACA, a sweeping law intended to broaden access to 
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health insurance, reduce or constrain the growth of healthcare spending, enhance remedies 

against fraud and abuse, add new transparency requirements for the healthcare and health 

insurance industries, impose new taxes and fees on the health industry and impose 

additional health policy reforms. Among the provisions of the ACA of importance to our 

potential product candidates are the following: 

 
• an annual, nondeductible fee payable by any entity that manufactures or 

imports specified branded prescription drugs and biologic agents; 

• an increase in the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer must pay under 

the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program; 

 
• a new methodology by which rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid 

Drug Rebate  Program are calculated for drugs that are inhaled, infused, instilled, 

implanted or injected; 

 
• a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers 

must agree to offer 50% point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices of 

applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries under their coverage gap period, 

as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be covered under 

Medicare Part D; 

 
• extension of manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate liability to individuals 

enrolled in Medicaid  managed care organizations; 

 
• expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs; 

 
• expansion of the entities eligible for discounts under the Public 

Health Service          pharmaceutical pricing program; 

 
• a new requirement to annually report drug samples that manufacturers 

and distributors provide to physicians; and 

 
• a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify 

priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along 

with funding for such research. 

There have been judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA, and we 

expect there will be additional challenges and amendments to the ACA in the future. At this 

time, the full effect that the  ACA would have on our business remains unclear. 
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In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the U.S. since the 

ACA was enacted. These changes included aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to 

providers of up to 2% per  fiscal year, which went into effect in April 2013 and, due to the 

Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, will remain in effect through 2025 unless additional action is 

taken by Congress. In January 2013, President Obama signed into law the American 

Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which, among other things, further reduced Medicare payments 

to several types of providers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the 

government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. These new laws 

may result in  additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding. In addition, 

recently there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which 

manufacturers set prices for their commercial products. 

We expect that the ACA, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted 

in the future, may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, 

more rigorous coverage criteria, new payment methodologies and in additional downward 

pressure on the price that we receive for any approved product. Any reduction in 

reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar 

reduction in payments from private payors. The implementation of cost containment 

measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, 

attain profitability, or commercialize our product candidates, if approved. 

Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements 

and restrict sales and promotional activities for pharmaceutical products. We cannot be sure 

whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the FDA regulations, 

guidance or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes on the 

marketing approvals of our product candidates, if any,  may be. In addition, increased scrutiny 

by the U.S. Congress of the FDA’s approval process may significantly delay or prevent 

marketing approval, as well as subject us to more stringent product labeling and post-

marketing testing and other requirements. 

We are subject to governmental economic sanctions and export and import controls that could impair our 

ability to compete in international markets or subject us to liability if we are not in compliance with applicable 

laws. 

As a U.S. company, we are subject to U.S. import and export controls and economic sanctions 

laws and regulations, and we are required to import and export our product candidates, 

technology and services in compliance with those laws and regulations, including the U.S. 

Export Administration Regulations, the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, and 

economic embargo and trade sanction programs administered by the Treasury 

Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control. 

U.S. economic sanctions and export control laws and regulations prohibit the shipment of 

certain products and services to countries, governments and persons targeted by U.S. 
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sanctions. While we are currently taking precautions to prevent doing any business, directly 

or indirectly, with countries, governments and persons targeted by U.S. sanctions and to 

ensure that our product candidates, if approved, are not exported or used by countries, 

governments and persons targeted by U.S. sanctions, such measures may be circumvented. 

Furthermore, if we export our product candidates, if approved, the exports may require 

authorizations, including a license, a license exception or other appropriate government 

authorization. Complying with export control and sanctions regulations for a particular sale 

may be time-consuming and may result in the delay or loss of sales opportunities. Failure to 

comply with export control and sanctions regulations for a particular sale may expose us to 

government investigations and penalties. 

If we are found to be in violation of U.S. sanctions or import or export control laws, it could 

result in civil and criminal, monetary and non-monetary penalties, including possible 

incarceration for those individuals responsible for the violations, the loss of export or import 

privileges and reputational harm. 

We are subject to anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws with respect to our operations and 

non-compliance with such laws can subject us to criminal or civil liability and harm our business. 

Noncompliance with anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws could subject us to 

whistleblower complaints, investigations, sanctions, settlements, prosecution, other 

enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, significant fines, damages, other civil and 

criminal penalties or injunctions, suspension or debarment from contracting with certain 

persons, the loss of export privileges, reputational harm, adverse media coverage and other 

collateral consequences. Responding to any action will likely result in a materially significant 

diversion of management’s attention and resources and significant defense costs and other 

professional fees. 

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or the FCPA, 

the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA 

PATRIOT Act and possibly other anti- bribery and anti-money laundering laws in countries 

in which we may conduct activities. Anti- corruption laws are interpreted broadly and 

prohibit companies and their employees and third-party intermediaries from authorizing, 

offering or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or benefits to recipients in 

the public or private sector. As we commercialize our product candidates and eventually 

commence international sales and business, we may engage with collaborators and third-

party intermediaries to sell our products abroad and to obtain necessary permits, licenses 

and other regulatory approvals. We or our third-party intermediaries may have direct or 

indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or 

affiliated entities. We may be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these 

third- party intermediaries, our employees, representatives, contractors, partners and 

agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. 
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property 

If we are unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our product candidates, or if the scope of 

the patent protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and commercialize 

technology and products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our 

technology and product candidates may be  impaired. 

We rely upon a combination of patents, trade secret protection, and confidentiality 

agreements to protect the intellectual property related to our product candidates. Our success 

depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the United 

States and other countries with respect to our product candidates. We seek to protect our 

proprietary position by filing patent applications in the United States and abroad related to 

our product candidates. 

The patent prosecution process is expensive and time-consuming, however, and we may not 

be able to file  and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable 

cost or in a timely manner. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects 

of our technology platform or product candidates before it is too late to obtain patent 

protection. We may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of 

patent applications, or to maintain the rights to patents licensed to or from third parties. In 

particular, certain patents and patent applications covering our core technology platform 

are exclusively licensed from NMB, and under our license agreement        with NMB, we rely on 

NMB to prosecute and maintain such patents and applications. Therefore, these patents and 

applications, and any other patents and applications that we may license from or to third 

parties, may not be prosecuted and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of 

our business. 

If the patent applications we hold or have in-licensed with respect to our product candidates 

fail to issue, if             their breadth or strength of protection is threatened, or if they fail to provide 

meaningful exclusivity for our current or any future product candidates, it could have a 

materially adverse effect on our business. Even if our owned and licensed patent 

applications issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any 

meaningful protection, prevent competitors from competing with us or otherwise provide 

us with any competitive advantage. Our competitors may be able to circumvent our owned 

and licensed patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-

infringing manner. 

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly 

uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions and has in recent years been the 

subject of much litigation. In addition, the laws of foreign countries may not protect our rights 

to the same extent as the laws of the United States or vice versa. For example, European 

patent law restricts the patentability of methods of treatment of the human body more than 

United States law does. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often  lag behind 
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the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions 

are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all. Therefore, 

we cannot know with certainty whether we were the first to make the inventions claimed 

in our owned and licensed patents or pending patent applications, or that we were the first 

to file for patent protection of such inventions. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, 

enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. Our pending 

and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued that protect our 

technology or products, in whole or in part, or which effectively prevent others from 

commercializing competitive technologies and products. Changes in either the patent laws 

or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish 

the value of our owned and licensed patents or narrow the scope of our patent protection 

while patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the 

prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents. 

Moreover, we may be subject to a third-party pre-issuance submission of prior art to the U.S. 

Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, or become involved in opposition, derivation, 

reexamination, inter-partes review, post-grant review or interference proceedings 

challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An adverse determination in any 

such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our patent 

rights, allow third parties to commercialize our technology or products and compete directly 

with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture or commercialize 

products without infringing third-party patent rights. In addition, if the breadth or strength 

of protection provided by our owned and licensed patents and patent applications is 

threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or 

commercialize current or future product candidates. 

In addition, the issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or 

enforceability, and our owned and licensed patents may be challenged in the courts or patent 

offices in the United States and abroad. Such challenges may result in loss of exclusivity or 

freedom to operate or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, in 

whole or in part, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing 

similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection 

of our technology and products. Given the amount of time required for the development, 

testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates 

might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our 

patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from 

commercializing products similar or identical to ours. 

Finally, certain of our activities and our licensors’ activities may in the future be funded, by 

the U.S. federal government. When new technologies are developed with U.S. federal 

government funding, the government obtains certain rights in any resulting patents, 
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including a nonexclusive license authorizing the government to use the invention for non-

commercial purposes. These rights may permit the government to disclose our confidential 

information to third parties and to exercise “march-in” rights to use or allow third parties to 

use our patented technology. The government can exercise its march-in rights if it 

determines that action is necessary because we fail to achieve practical application of the U.S. 

government- funded technology, because action is necessary to alleviate health or safety 

needs, to meet requirements of federal regulations or to give preference to U.S. industry. In 

addition, U.S. government-funded inventions must be reported to the government, U.S. 

government funding must be disclosed in any resulting patent applications, and our rights 

in such inventions may be subject to certain requirements to manufacture products in the 

United States. 

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, 

document submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, 

and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements. 

Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the USPTO and other 

foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patent. The USPTO and 

various foreign national or international patent agencies require compliance with a number 

of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent 

application process. While an inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a 

late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in 

which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, 

resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-

compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of patent rights include, but 

are not limited to, failure to timely file national and regional stage patent applications based 

on our international patent application, failure to respond to official actions within 

prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit 

formal documents. If we or our licensors fail to maintain the patents and patent applications 

covering our technology platform or product candidates, our competitors might be able to 

enter the market, which would have an adverse effect on our business. 

Changes in U.S. patent laws could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability 
to protect our products. 

The United States has recently enacted and implemented wide-ranging patent reform 

legislation. The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either 

narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening 

the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with 

regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created 

uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained. Depending on actions by the 

U.S. Congress, the federal courts, and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents 

could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents 
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or to enforce patents that we have licensed or that we might obtain in the future. 

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our owned and licensed patents, which could be 

expensive, time- consuming and unsuccessful. Further, our issued patents could be found invalid or 

unenforceable if challenged in court. 

If we were to initiate legal proceedings against a third-party to enforce a patent directed to 

our product candidates, or one of our future product candidates, the defendant could 

counterclaim that our patent is invalid or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United 

States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace. 

Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory 

requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, non-enablement or insufficient written 

description. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone 

connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant information from the USPTO or 

made a misleading statement during prosecution. Third parties may also raise similar claims 

before the USPTO, even outside the context of litigation. The outcome following legal 

assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity 

question, for example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art of which 

we and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a defendant were to 

prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and 

perhaps all, of the patent protection on our product candidates. Such a loss of patent 

protection would harm our business. 

 
Interference proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by us or declared by the 

USPTO may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions with respect to our owned 

and licensed patents or patent applications. An unfavorable outcome could require us to 

cease using the related technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing 

party. Our business could be harmed if the prevailing party does not offer us a license on 

commercially reasonable terms, or at all. 

Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with 

intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could 

be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. 

Most of our competitors are larger than we are and have substantially greater resources than 

we do. They are, therefore, likely to be able to sustain the costs of complex patent or other 

intellectual property rights litigation longer than we could. Accordingly, despite our efforts, 

we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our 

intellectual property. Litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of 

management resources, which could harm our business. In addition, the uncertainties 

associated with litigation could compromise our ability to raise the funds necessary to 

continue our clinical trials, continue our internal research programs, or in-license needed 
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technology or other product candidates. There could also be public announcements of the 

results of the hearing, motions, or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities 

analysts or investors perceive those results to be negative, it could cause the price of shares 

of our common stock to decline. 

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world, which could impair our 
business. 

 

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on our product candidates in all countries 

throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual property rights 

in some countries outside the United States can be less extensive than those in the United 

States. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property 

rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States. Consequently, we may 

not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our invention in such countries. 

Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent 

protection to develop their own products and may export otherwise infringing products to 

territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement rights are not as strong as 

those in the United States. These products may compete with our product candidates and 

our owned and licensed patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or 

sufficient to prevent them from competing. 

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending 

intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of some countries do 

not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, which could 

make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our owned and licensed patents generally. 

Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial 

costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our 

patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our owned and licensed 

patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims 

against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other 

remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. 

Many countries, including European Union countries, India, Japan and China, have 

compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled under specified 

circumstances to grant licenses to third parties. In those countries, we may have limited 

remedies if patents are infringed or if we are compelled to grant a license to a third party, 

which could materially diminish the value of those patents. This could limit our potential 

revenue opportunities. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights 

around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the 

intellectual property that we develop or license. 

We may not be able to obtain licenses to third-party intellectual property. Third parties may initiate legal 

proceedings alleging infringement of their intellectual property rights. 
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A third party may hold intellectual property, including patent rights that are important or 

necessary to the development or commercialization of our product candidates. However, we 

may not be able to obtain such licenses on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. In addition, 

our existing licenses may be terminated or may not be renewed, which could hurt our 

business. 

In addition, our commercial success depends upon our ability to develop, manufacture, 

market and sell our product candidates and use our proprietary technologies without 

infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. There is considerable intellectual property 

litigation in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries. We may become party to, or 

threatened with, future adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding intellectual property 

rights with respect to our products and technology, including interference or derivation 

proceedings before the USPTO. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending 

patent applications owned by third parties exist in the fields in which we are developing our 

product candidates. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries expand and more 

patents are issued, and as we gain greater visibility and market exposure as a public 

company, the risk increases that our product candidates or other business activities may be 

subject to claims of infringement of the patent and other proprietary rights of third parties. 

Third parties may assert infringement claims against us based on existing patents or patents 

that may be granted in the future. We have not conducted searches for information in 

support of patent protection and otherwise evaluating the patent landscape for nitric oxide 

releasing materials and products, and thus we cannot provide any assurance that there are not 

valid patents which contain granted claims that could be asserted with respect to our nitric 

oxide-based product candidates. 

Parties making claims against us may obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could 

effectively block our ability to further develop and commercialize one or more of our product 

candidates or force us to cease some of our business operations. Defense of these claims, 

regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a 

substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. If we are found to infringe a 

third party’s intellectual property rights, we could be required to redesign our infringing 

products or obtain a license from such third party to continue developing and marketing our 

products and technology. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on 

commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be 

non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. 

Moreover, we could be forced, including by court order, to cease commercializing the 

infringing technology or product. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary 

damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found to have willfully 

infringed a patent. 
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Claims that we have misappropriated the confidential information or trade secrets of third 

parties could have a similar negative impact on our business. 

We may be subject to claims by third parties asserting that we or our employees have misappropriated 

their intellectual  property, or claiming ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property. 

Many of our employees were previously employed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutical 

companies or universities. Although we try to ensure that our employees do not use the 

proprietary information or know- how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to 

claims that these employees or we have used or disclosed intellectual property, including 

trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any such employee’s former employer. 

Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. 

In addition, while it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be 

involved in the development of intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such 

intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each 

party who in fact develops intellectual property that we regard as our own. Our and their 

assignment agreements may not be self-executing or may be breached, and we may be forced 

to bring claims against third parties, or defend claims they may bring against us, to determine 

the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property. 

If we fail in prosecuting or defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary 

damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are 

successful in prosecuting or defending against such claims, litigation could result in 

substantial costs and be a distraction to management. 

If we fail to comply with our obligations under any license, collaboration or other agreements, it could have 

a material adverse effect on our commercialization efforts for our product candidates. 

Our current license with NMB imposes, and any future licenses we enter into may impose, 

various development, commercialization, milestone, royalty, diligence, sublicensing, 

insurance, patent prosecution and enforcement, and other obligations on us. If we breach any 

of these obligations, or use the intellectual property licensed to us in an unauthorized 

manner, we may be required to pay damages and the licensor may have the right to 

terminate the license, which could result in us being unable to develop, manufacture and sell 

products that are covered by the licensed technology or enable a competitor to gain access 

to the licensed technology. 

 
If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive 
position would be harmed. 

In addition to seeking patents for our product candidates, we also rely on trade secrets, 

including unpatented know-how, technology and other proprietary information, to maintain 

our competitive position. 
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We seek to protect our trade secrets, in part, by entering into non-disclosure and 

confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to them, such as our employees 

(including through specific provisions in employment contracts), corporate collaborators, 

outside scientific collaborators, contract manufacturers, consultants, advisors and other 

third parties. We also enter into confidentiality and invention or patent assignment 

agreements with our employees and consultants. Despite these efforts, any of these parties 

may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade 

secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Enforcing a 

claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive 

and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and 

outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. If any of our 

trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor, we 

would have no right to prevent them, or those to whom they communicate it, from using that 

technology or information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be 

disclosed to or independently developed by a competitor, our competitive position would be 

materially impaired. 

Our reliance on third parties requires us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that a 

competitor will discover them or that our trade secrets will be misappropriated or disclosed. 

Because we expect to rely on third parties to manufacture NanoNOx and any future product 

candidates, we must, at times, share trade secrets with them. These agreements typically 

limit the rights of the third parties to use or disclose our confidential information, including 

our trade secrets. Despite the contractual provisions employed when working with third 

parties, the need to share trade secrets and other confidential information increases the risk 

that such trade secrets become known by our competitors, are inadvertently incorporated 

into the technology of others, or are disclosed or used in violation of these agreements. Given 

that our proprietary position is based, in part, on our know-how and trade secrets, a 

competitor’s discovery of our trade secrets or other unauthorized use or disclosure would 

impair our competitive position and may adversely impact our business. 

Any trademarks we have obtained or may obtain may be infringed or successfully challenged, materially 

harming to our business. 

We expect to rely on trademarks as one means to distinguish any of our product candidates 

that are approved for marketing from the products of our competitors. Once we select new 

trademarks and apply to register them, our trademark applications may not be approved. 

Third parties may oppose or attempt to cancel our trademark applications or trademarks, or 

otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event that our trademarks are 

successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our products, which could result in 

loss of brand recognition and could require us to devote resources to advertising and 

marketing new brands. Further, our competitors may infringe our trademarks, including 

with respect to our NanoNOx technology and we may not have adequate resources to enforce 
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our trademarks. 

 
Outside of the United States we cannot be certain that any country’s patent or trademark office will not 

implement new rules that could seriously affect how we draft, file, prosecute and maintain patents, 

trademarks and patent and trademark applications. 

We cannot be certain that the patent or trademark offices of countries outside the United 

States will not implement new rules that increase costs for drafting, filing, prosecuting and 

maintaining patents, trademarks and patent and trademark applications or that any such 

new rules will not restrict our ability to file for patent protection. For example, we may elect 

not to seek patent protection in some jurisdictions or for some product candidates in order 

to save costs. We may be forced to abandon or return the rights to specific patents due to a 

lack of financial resources. 

Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats to our competitive advantage. 

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain 

because intellectual property rights have limitations, and may not adequately protect our 

business, or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage, for reasons including but not 

limited to the following: 

 
• others may be able to make formulations or compositions that are the same as 

or similar to certain of our product candidates but that are not covered by the 

claims of the patents that we own or license; 

 
• others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or 

duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our trade secret or similar 

rights; 

 
• issued patents that we own or license may not provide us with any competitive 

advantages, or may be held invalid or unenforceable as a result of legal 

challenges; 

 

• our competitors might conduct research and development activities in the 

United States and other countries that provide a safe harbor from patent 

infringement claims for certain research and development activities, as well as in 

countries where we do not have patent rights, and then use the information 

learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our 

major commercial markets; and 

 

• we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable. 

Risks Related to our Financial Results 



46 
 

We have incurred significant losses since our inception. We expect to incur losses for at least the next 

several years and may never achieve or maintain profitability. 

Since inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. As of March 31, 2021, we had 

an accumulated deficit of $830,770. As a result of our operating losses and negative cash 

flows from operations, the report of our independent registered public accounting firm on 

our December 31, 2020 financial statements included an explanatory paragraph indicating 

that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. To date, we 

have financed our operations primarily through private placements of our common and 

preferred stock, advances from shareholders. We have devoted substantially all of our 

efforts to research and development. We have not completed development of any product 

candidates. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating 

losses for at least the next several years. We anticipate that our expenses will increase 

substantially if and as we: 

 
• conduct the Phase 1 clinical trials of NanoNOx for the treatment of 

mild to moderate  COVID19; 

 
• initiate clinical trials of our additional product candidates; 

 
• seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates that successfully 

complete clinical             trials; 

• qualify contract manufacturing organizations for the manufacture of drug 

product for the commercial launch of our product candidates; 

 
• establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to 

commercialize products for which we may obtain regulatory approval; 

 
• maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio; 

 
• continue our research and development efforts; 

 
• hire additional clinical, quality control, scientific and management personnel; 

 
• add operational, financial and management information systems and 

personnel, including personnel to support our product development and 

planned commercialization efforts; and 

 
• incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses in operating as a public 

company. 
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To become and remain profitable, we must develop and eventually commercialize a product 

or products with significant market potential. This development and commercialization will 

require us to be successful in a range of challenging activities, including successfully 

completing clinical trials of our product candidates, obtaining regulatory approval for these 

product candidates, and marketing and selling those products for which we may obtain 

regulatory approval. We are only in the preliminary stages of some of these activities. We 

may never succeed in these activities and may never generate revenues that are significant 

or large enough to achieve profitability. 

Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on 

a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would decrease the 

value of the company and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, 

maintain our research and development efforts or continue our operations. A decline in the 

value of our company could also cause you to lose all or part of your investment. 

We will need substantial additional funding. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we would be 

forced to delay, reduce, terminate or eliminate our product development programs, or our 

commercialization efforts. 

We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, including 

conducting our projected Phase 1 clinical trials of NanoNOx and seeking regulatory approval 

for our product candidates. In addition, if we obtain regulatory approval of any of our 

product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses for product 

sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution. Furthermore, upon the closing of this 

offering, we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. 

Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional funding in connection with our 

continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, 

we would be forced to delay, reduce, terminate or eliminate our product development 

programs, or our commercialization efforts. 

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including: 

 
• clinical trials for NanoNOx; 

 
• the scope, progress, results and costs of preclinical development, laboratory 

testing and clinical trials for our other product candidates; 

 
• costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates; 

 
• costs of commercialization activities, including product sales, marketing, 

manufacturing and distribution, for any of our product candidates for which we 

receive regulatory approval; 
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• revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, 

should any of our product candidates be approved by the FDA or a similar 

regulatory authority outside the United States; 

 
• costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and 

enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending intellectual property-

related claims; 

 
• the extent to which we acquire or invest in other businesses, products and 

technologies; 
 

• our ability to obtain government or other third-party funding for the 

development of our product candidates; and 

 
• our ability to establish collaborations on favorable terms, if at all, particularly 

arrangements to develop, market and distribute our product candidates outside 

North America. 

 
Conducting preclinical testing and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain 

process that takes years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or 

results required to obtain regulatory approval and achieve product sales. In addition, our 

product candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Our commercial 

revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of products that we do not expect to be 

commercially available for several years, if at all. Accordingly, we will need to continue to 

rely on additional financing to achieve our business objectives. Additional financing may not 

be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. 

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or 

require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidates. 

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to 

finance our cash needs through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, 

government contracts, government and other third- party grants or other third-party 

funding, marketing and distribution arrangements and other collaborations, strategic 

alliances and licensing arrangements. We will require substantial funding in addition to the 

net proceeds of this offering to complete the planned leasing, fund our commercialization 

efforts and fund our operating expenses and other activities. To the extent that we raise 

additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership 

interest will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other 

preferences that adversely affect your rights as a stockholder. Debt financing, if available, 
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may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take 

specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring 

dividends. 

We currently intend to collaborate with third parties for the development and 

commercialization of our product candidates. If we raise additional funds through 

government or other third-party funding, marketing and distribution arrangements or other 

collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have 

to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs 

or product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. 

Our 2020 consolidated financial statements contains an explanatory paragraph regarding going 

concern, and we will need additional financing to execute our business plan, to fund our operations and 

to continue as a going concern. 

Since inception, we have experienced recurring operating losses and negative cash flows and 

we expect to continue to generate operating losses and consume significant cash resources 

in the foreseeable future. These conditions raise substantial doubt about our ability to 

continue as a going concern without additional financing. As a result, an explanatory 

paragraph in our 2020 consolidated financial statements with respect to this uncertainty. 

Substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern may materially and 

adversely affect the price per share of our common stock and we may have a more difficult 

time obtaining financing. 

We have prepared our consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis, which 

contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in 

the normal course of business. Our 2020 consolidated financial statements do not include 

any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification 

of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome of 

this uncertainty. 

We have a limited operating history and no history of commercializing drugs, which may make it difficult 

for you to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future viability. 

We commenced operations in 2018, and our operations to date have been largely focused on 

raising capital and developing NanoNOx. We have not yet demonstrated our ability to 

successfully complete later-stage clinical trials, obtain regulatory approvals, manufacture a 

drug on a commercial scale, or arrange for a third- party to do so on our behalf, or conduct 

sales and marketing activities necessary for successful commercialization. Consequently, 

any predictions you make about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they 

could be if we had a longer operating history or a history of successfully developing and 

commercializing drugs. 

We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known 
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or unknown factors in achieving our business objectives. We will need to transition at some 

point from a company with a development focus to a company capable of supporting 

commercial activities. We may not be successful in such a transition. 

We may be adversely affected by natural disasters and other catastrophic events, and by man-made 

problems such as terrorism, that could disrupt our business operations and our business continuity and 

disaster recovery plans may not adequately protect us from a serious disaster. 

Our research headquarters are located in Bronx, New York, which has been the scene of 

substantial political unrest as well as outbreaks of COVID19. If a disaster, power outage or 

other event occurred that prevented us from using all or a significant portion of our 

headquarters, that damaged critical infrastructure, such as enterprise financial systems, 

manufacturing resource planning or enterprise quality systems, or that otherwise disrupted 

operations, it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible for us to continue our business 

for a substantial period of time. Our manufacturers’ and suppliers’ facilities are located in 

multiple locations, where other natural disasters or similar events, such as blizzards, 

tornadoes, fires, explosions or large-scale accidents or power outages, could severely disrupt 

their operations. In addition, acts of terrorism and other geo-political unrest could cause 

disruptions in our business or the businesses of our collaborators, manufacturers or the 

economy as a whole. All of the aforementioned risks may be further increased if we do not 

implement a disaster recovery plan or our collaborators’ or manufacturers’ disaster 

recovery plans prove to be inadequate. Any of the above could result in delays in the 

regulatory approval, manufacture, distribution or commercialization of our product 

candidates. 

Our common stock would be subject to the “Penny Stock” rules of the Securities and Exchange 

Commission if it were publicly traded and may be difficult to sell. 

Our shares of common stock are “penny stocks” because they are not registered on a 

national securities exchange or listed on an automated quotation system sponsored by a 

registered national securities association, pursuant to Rule 3a51-1(a) under the Exchange 

Act. For any transaction involving a penny stock, unless exempt, the rules require that a 

broker or dealer approve a person’s account for transactions in penny stocks and that the 

broker or dealer receives from the investor a written agreement to the transaction, setting 

forth the identity and quantity of the penny stock to be purchased. The broker or dealer 

must also deliver, prior to any transaction in a penny stock, a disclosure schedule 

prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission relating to the penny stock market, 

which sets forth the basis on which the broker or dealer made the suitability determination 

and that the broker or dealer received a signed, written agreement from the investor prior 

to the transaction. Generally, brokers may be less willing to execute transactions in 

securities subject to the “penny stock” rules. This may make it more difficult for investors 

to dispose of our common stock and cause a decline in the market value of our stock. 

 
Disclosure also has to be made about the risks of investing in penny stocks in both public 
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offerings and in secondary trading and about the commissions payable to both the broker-

dealer and the registered representative, current quotations for the securities and the 

rights and remedies available to an investor in cases of fraud in penny stock transactions. 

Finally, monthly statements have to be sent disclosing recent  price information for the penny 

stock held in the account and information on the limited market in penny stocks. 

 
The market for penny stocks has suffered in recent years from patterns of fraud and abuse. 

 
Stockholders should be aware that, according to SEC Release No. 34-29093, the market for 

penny stocks has suffered in recent years from patterns of fraud and abuse. Such patterns 

include: 
 control of the market for the security by one or a few broker-dealers that are 

often related to  the promoter or issuer; 

 
 manipulation of prices through prearranged matching of purchases and 

sales and false and  misleading press releases; 

 
 boiler room practices involving high-pressure sales tactics and unrealistic price 

projections by  inexperienced sales persons; 

 
 excessive and undisclosed bid-ask differential and markups by selling broker-dealers; 

and 

 
 the wholesale dumping of the same securities by promoters and broker-dealers 

after prices have been manipulated to a desired level, along with the resulting 

inevitable collapse of those prices and with consequential investor losses. 

 
Our management is aware of the abuses that have occurred historically in the penny stock market. 

Although we do not expect to be in a position to dictate the behavior of the market or of broker-

dealers who participate in the market, management will strive within the confines of practical 

limitations to prevent the described patterns from being established with respect to our shares of 

common stock. The occurrence of these patterns or practices could increase the volatility of our 

share price. 
 

ISSUER'S BUSINESS, PRODUCTS AND SERVICES: 
Standard Vape Corporation., (“Standard”) was incorporated on December 30, 2008 under 
the laws of the State of Nevada as Xuan Wu International Group Holding Company and 
changed its name to Standard Vape Corporation on 1/31/2020. 

 
On 12/13/17, the Company decided to return its Chinese wholly-owned subsidiary, Xuan Wu 
International Group Inc., to its former owners. The return of that business to the former 
owners was accomplished in 2019. The Company acquired a tobacco licensing company that 
profits from an uptick in interest in classic pipe smoking brands. On 3/28/19 Xuan Wu 
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entered into a definitive sale contract with Bethlehem IP Holdings, Inc., an entity controlled 
by the Swedish Tobacco Group (“STG”). STG acquired the entire       catalogue of trademarks of 
XNWU’s wholly owned subsidiary The Standard Tobacco Company of Pennsylvania, Ltd. for 
cash consideration of Fifty Thousand Dollars. The catalogue of trademarks includes iconic 
trade names War Horse, John Cotton’s, Bengal Slices, Dobie’s and Murray’s. These formerly 
British pipe tobacco brands were revived and sold by Pipes and Cigars under the Standard 
Tobacco name. Standard Tobacco retains the rights to use these marks on certain products 
outside the tobacco industry if it should choose to do so. On the same date, 3/28/19, the 
Company acquired Nano Vape Corporation (“Nano”), which was formed in 2019 to exploit 
vaping technology; a portion of which is the subject of a recently filed provisional patent 
application.  Due to the lack of success in development of the vaping device and fluid, SVAP 
intends to return ownership of Nano to its former shareholders in exchange for those 
shareholders converting any outstanding Class A Preferred Stock into Common Stock and 
agreeing to cancel 90% of all common shares held by those holders. SVAP believes this 
transaction will close during the first quarter of 2020. Pursuant to these actions the product 
development and license agreement NMB Therapeutics, Inc. (“NMB”) will be terminated. 
Nano had caused two patent applications to be filed for the vaping device and fluid. Nano 
Vape Corporation was formed in 2019 to exploit vaping technology that is expected to 
eliminate some, and lessen more, of the objections that have been posed by the United States 
Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) concerning vaping. Nano Vape is developing a novel 
vaping device based upon the technology developed by Mel Ehrlich, Ph.D., presently sole 
director and officer of Nano Vape, and his team. The device should eliminate the need for 
heating the vaping fluid and will eliminate the danger of fire present with lithium batteries 
contained in the existing vaping devices without lessening performance and reduce 
exposure to heavy metals by the elimination of the heating element employed by e-cigarettes. 
 
To date the company has caused to be built a formal functioning prototype of the device 
based around the designs of the filed provisional patent. The device incorporates all the 
features and benefits described above namely: 

 
 No heating coils thus the nicotine solution is turned into an aerosol as opposed 

to the industry norm of heating the solution. This has certain health benefits 

since when heated in traditional e- cigarettes vaping fluid is changed producing 

certain byproducts which it has been suggested could be injurious to the user’s 

health. 

 
 The absence of a heating coil may reduce a further health risk known as 

‘popcorn lung’ which is caused by the vapor collecting minute particles of heavy 
metal from the heating coil as the steam of the heated vape fluid is breathed into 
the user’s lungs. 

 The device contains no lithium battery which has been shown to be a fire 

hazard, unstable and has been known to explode in other commercially 

available e- cigarettes resulting in injuries to the user. The Standard Vape 
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product relies on drawing its power from a charged capacitor that stores the 

electricity that runs the vaporizing device. 

 The vape solution itself is a mixture of nicotine salts, distilled water and a small 

amount of organic glycerin which is inhaled to deliver the sensation of smoking 

and deliver an amount of nicotine in the same range as a commercial cigarette. 

NMB rents laboratory space in the Bronx, New York. The team at NMB is led by 

Dr. Mel Ehrlich along with Mahantesh Navati, Ph.D., and is developing some of 

the more innovative applications for the use of nanoparticles in areas as diverse 

as cosmetics and dentistry. Dr. Navati commented: “We are very excited about 

developing this new use of nanoparticles and being able to further reduce the 

amount of nicotine consumed during the vaping experience without reducing the 

benefits of vaping versus combustible tobacco.” 

 
To date the Company has not been successful in interesting leading members of the 
vaping industry in pursuing any collaborative efforts with the Company to license either 
its vaping fluid or the company’s delivery device. 
 
In April, 2020, the Issuer formed Neo Virucide, Inc., hereinafter referred to as “Neo Virucide” 
or “NVI”, a Wyoming corporation, as a wholly owned subsidiary. Neo Virucide then entered 
into an Exclusive Worldwide License and Product Development Agreement with NMB 
Therapeutics, Inc., a related party, thereby acquiring the marketing rights to NanoNOx™, a 
proprietary nanoparticle formed to deliver nitric oxide upon being inhaled. Neo Virucide 
was moving toward preclinical animal testing with the aim of submitting a preIND to the 
FDA this year and commencing clinical trials in 2021. However, inability of NMB to deliver 
samples suitable for testing resulted in delays in testing and there is no predictable timeline 
for continuation of those trials. The treatment of COVID-19 and other respiratory conditions 
is the aim of the trials. Neo Virucide ceased  negotiating with medical clinics to  initiate 
human clinical trials as a result of lack of material from NMB.  NanoNOx™ is thought to act 
as a vasodilator and may have antiviral and antimicrobial activity. 
 
On November 10, 2020, NVI entered into a Joint Venture (“JV”) Agreement (“JV Agreement”) 
with Vivian Li Kremer Co. of New York, NY. (“VLKC”). NVI will supply its NanoNOx 
technology for use in development of personal, building and transport protective equipment 
(“PPE”) and VLKC will pay for operating expenses of the JV. The JV Agreement provides for 
a split of the profits on a 51%/49% for VLKC and NVI, respectively. Managerial control of 
the JV is vested in VLKC. In February 2021, NVI notified VLKC pursuant to the terms of its JV 
Agreement terminating the JV due to a failure to fund and other issues. On March 17, 2021 
VLKC and Robert Kremer named Standard Vape Corp in a lawsuit filed in New York 
asserting, among other alleged matters, ownership of 51% of Standard Vape Corp. As of May 
3, 2021, the plaintiffs have failed to file a complaint and Standard Vape Corp is seeking to 
have the suit dismissed with prejudice. 
 
The Company has commenced pursuit of companies in the FinTech industry seeking a 
reverse takeover candidate. In the event of such a transaction being realized, NVI will be 



54 
 

spun off from SVAP to the former’s pre-transaction shareholders as at the date when a stock 
exchange agreement is consummated between the Company and the target(s), FF24 Merchant 
Services GmbH and FF24 Ventures GmbH . 

Date; State; and Jurisdiction of Incorporation: 
Xuan Wu International Group Holding Co., Inc., (the “Company”) was incorporated under the 
laws of Nevada on December 30, 2008. Effective January 31, 2020 FINRA approved the 
Company’s request to change its name to Standard Vape Corporation from Xuan Wu 
International Group Holding Company. 

 
Issuer’s Primary and Secondary SIC Codes: 

2100 Manufacture of pharmaceuticals, medicinal chemical and botanical products. 

 
Fiscal Year: 
The Company’s fiscal year ends on December 31. 

 
Products: 

The Company, through its Nano Vape Corporation subsidiary, acquired the rights to a new 
and improved        e-cigarette developed by Dr. Mel Ehrlich. The Company has an exclusive 
worldwide license to NanoNOx, a proprietary composition of matter which when wet 
emits nitric oxide. 

 
Marketing Opportunity 

Presently the Company is seeking a target for a reverse takeover. However, in the absence of such a 
transaction, and assuming access to sufficient financing, the Company believes the NanoNOx™ nitric 
oxide producing nanoparticles offers several marketing opportunities, including as mask inserts, as an 
inhaled dry powder treatment for COPD, pulmonary and nasal microbial and viral infections, possibly 
including COVID-19, asthma and pulmonary hypertension. Each of these opportunities will require 
varying amounts of financing to comply with FDA regulations and foreign regulatory compliance. It is 
possible that some uses may be marketable without regulatory compliance but the Company is not 
in a position to analyze that possibility. 

 

6. Describe the Issuer’s Facilities. 
The Company is provided with office space by its President at no charge. The Company 
conducts its research and development work at a small laboratory space located in the Bronx, 
NY occupied by NMB. Administrative             offices are located at 480 Forest Avenue, #507, Locust 
Valley 11560. 

7. Officers, Directors, and Control Persons 
The goal of this section is to provide an investor with a clear understanding of the identity of all the 
persons or entities that are involved in managing, controlling or advising the operations, business 
development and disclosure of the issuer, as well as the identity of any significant or beneficial 
shareholders. 

 

Using the tabular format below, please provide information regarding any person or entity owning 
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5% of more of the issuer, as well as any officer, and any director of the company, regardless of 
the number of shares they own. If any listed are corporate shareholders or entities, provide the 
name and address of the person(s) beneficially owning or controlling such corporate 
shareholders, or the name and contact information of an individual representing the 
corporation or entity in the note section. 

 

 
 

 

John F. Fruhmann, President & Chief Financial Officer 

 
John F. Fruhmann has been our President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary since 2018. Upon 
graduating from Fairleigh Dickenson University in 1974 with an MBA in Finance, Mr. Fruhmann 
worked at Pfizer Inc./Minerals Technologies Inc. for over 30 years in various sales and marketing 
management positions. He retired in February 2008 as Director of Sales. From 2009 until the present, 
Mr. Fruhmann served as a founding Director of Lauren's Hope Foundation, Inc. 
(www.laurenshopefoundation.com), a 501(c)3 charitable organization whose mission is to assist 
children born with brain injuries and their families. 
 
Daniel Fisher, Secretary, Treasurer & Director 
 

Mr. Fisher was the co-founder and former CEO of BioZone Laboratories for more than 20 years. 
BioZone was a contract developer and manufacturer of skincare and pharma products that were 
nationally distributed.  The company was dedicated to developing customer-specific personalization 
and unique product solutions with advanced technologies. BioZone developed and patented new 
drug delivery technologies to optimize the effect of its products.  Mr. Fisher has three patents in drug 
delivery technology.  He earned a BS in Marketing from San Francisco State University.   
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Elizabeth Ehrlich Kellogg, Director 
 

Ms. Kellogg is an award-winning Creative Director with an extensive background in leading creative 
vision, ideation, strategy, and execution.  Comprehensive experience working with clients, leading 
agency teams, and delivering exceptional work.  Experience building client relationships and growing 
accounts. Highly proficient in leading internal and client-facing presentations of concepts, strategy, 
and design.  Adept at leading ideation and brainstorming sessions, and applying a strong 
understanding of industry innovations, trends, and history.  Directed and managed teams of creative 
professionals across separate offices for advertising agencies in NY and LA.  She was responsible for 
global campaigns for a wide range of products from pharmaceutical to automobiles.  Ms. Kellogg 
earned a BFA in Fine Arts / Design from the Pratt Institute. 

 

8. Legal/Disciplinary History: 
A. Please identify whether any of the persons listed above have, in the past 10 years, 

been the subject of: 
 

1. A conviction in a criminal proceeding or named as a defendant in a pending criminal proceeding 
(excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses); 

 

Not Applicable 
 

2. The entry of an order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, 
by a court of competent jurisdiction that permanently or temporarily enjoined, barred, suspended 
or otherwise limited such person’s involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities, or 
banking activities; 

 

Not Applicable 
 

3. A finding or judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission, or a state securities regulator 
of a violation of federal or state securities or commodities law, which finding or judgment has not 
been reversed, suspended, or vacated; or 

 

Not Applicable 
 

4. The entry of an order by a self-regulatory organization that permanently or temporarily barred, 
suspended, or otherwise limited such person’s involvement in any type of business or securities 
activities. 

 
Not Applicable 

 

B. Describe briefly any material pending legal proceedings, other than ordinary routine litigation 
incidental to 

the business, to which the issuer or any of its subsidiaries is a party or of which any of their 
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property is the subject. Include the name of the court or agency in which the proceedings are 
pending, the date instituted, the principal parties thereto, a description of the factual basis alleged 
to underlie the proceeding and the relief sought. Include similar information as to any such 
proceedings known to be contemplated by governmental authorities. 

 

Notice Received of Pending Litigation against the Company 

 

The Company was notified on March 29, 2021, by means of two Summons with Notice of a lawsuit 
filed against it as a co-defendant by Life Wellness, Inc., a corporation believed to be controlled by 
Vivian Li Kremer, and a similar suit filed by her spouse, Robert Kremer. Through its Brooklyn, New 
York, NY-based attorney, Allen Schwartz Esq., the Plaintiff, Life Wellness, Inc., claims to be entitled 
under an alleged oral agreement to a 51% interest in the issued common share capital of SVAP. 
The Plaintiff further asserts itself to have suffered losses of, and to be seeking damages exceeding, 
$80,000,000 (eighty million dollars). Thus far, the Plaintiff has failed to state any coherent basis 
for its claim. The Company and its lawyers consider the suits filed by Life Wellness, Inc. and Robert 
Kremer to be frivolous, baseless and without merit, and have moved the court to dismiss both 
suits. 

 

Armin Dartsch, Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Directors at Fast Finance 24 Holding AG, 
commented: "The Board of Fast Finance 24 Holding AG has seen the Summons with Notice and 
certain surrounding documents; it intends to support the management of Standard Vape 
Corporation during the process of dismissing what appears to SVAPs legal counsel lately 
instructed in this matter to be a baseless litigation. While Fast Finance 24 Holding AG reserves the 
right of terminating the proposed transaction the directors do not believe, on the basis of the 
facts submitted to them, that this will prove necessary." 

 

Fast Finance 24 Holding AG is a public company headquartered in Berlin whose shares are traded 
on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in Germany. 

 

The Board of Directors of SVAP shall be retaining outside legal representation and will vigorously 
contest the matters alleged whilst reserving to itself all lawful avenues of redress against Life 
Wellness, Inc. and/or its principal(s), including (but not limited to) action(s) for damages. The 
Directors fully expect this matter to be resolved in a fashion satisfactory to the interests of SVAPs 
shareholders. 

 

9. Third Party Providers 
 

Securities Counsel 
Roger L. Fidler 
Attorney at Law 
1522 Gardner 
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Drive 

Lutz, NJ 33559 
(201) 220-8734 
(201) 464-7943(Fax) 
rfidler0099@aol.com 

 

CorporateFinance Advisor 

Keith, Bayley, Rogers & Co. Ltd.  
One Royal Exchange Avenue  
London, EC3V 3LT, United Kingdom  
011-44-207-464-4090 
Graham.Atthill-Beck@kbrl.co.uk; Brinsley.Holman@kbrl.co.uk 

 
Accountant 
JDDACPA LLC 
3131 Piedmont Ave 
Suite 203 
Atlanta, GA 30305 
(404) 826-3902 
johndelladonna@att.net 

 

10. Issuer Certification. 
Principal Executive Officer: 

 
The issuer shall include certifications by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of the 
issuer (or any other persons with different titles but having the same responsibilities). The certifications 
shall follow the format below: I, John Fruhmann certify that: 

 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report for the quarter ended March 31, 
2021 for OTC Market  Disclosure Compliance for Standard Vape 
Corporation; 

 

2. Based on my knowledge, this disclosure statement does not contain any untrue 
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were 
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by thisdisclosure statement; 
and 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information 
included or incorporated by reference in this disclosure statement, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this disclosure statement. 

 
5/4/2021 
/s/ John Fruhmann John Fruhmann 

Principal Financial Officer: 
 

I, John Fruhmann certify that: 
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1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report for the quarter ending March 31, 
2021 for OTC Market Disclosure Compliance for Standard Vape 
Corporation; 

 

2. Based on my knowledge, this disclosure statement does not contain any untrue 
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, 
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this disclosure statement; and 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information 
included or incorporated by reference in this disclosure statement, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this disclosure statement. 

 
5/4/2021 
/s/ John Fruhmann John Fruhmann 
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STANDARD VAPE CORPORATION 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS UNAUDITED

3/31/2021 12/31/2020

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash 388$                        460$                        

Prepaid license fees -                             13,500                    

Total current assets 388                           13,960                    

Other Assets

Trademarks 225,000                 225,000                 

Total fixed and other assets 225,000                 225,000                 

TOTAL ASSETS 225,388$              238,960$              

Cu rrent  lia bilit ies 

Accrued expenses 404,158$              419,908$              

T ot a l  cu rrent  l iabilit ies 404,158                 419,908                 

T ot a l  lon g-t erm  liabilit ies -                             -                             

Total liabilities 404,158                 419,908                 

SHA REHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY

Class A Preferred Stock; par value  $0.0001; authorized 300,000 

shares; as of March 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, there are 

92,625 and 92,625 outstanding, respectively

9                                 9                                 

Class B Preferred Stock; par value  $0.0001; authorized 100,000 

shares; as of March 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, there are 0 

and 25,000 outstanding, respectively

-                             3                                 

Class C Preferred Stock; par value  $0.0001; authorized 100,000 

shares; as of March 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, there are 0 

and 0 outstanding, respectively

-                             -                             

Undesignated Preferred Stock; par value  $0.0001; authorized 

9,400,000 shares; as of March 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, 

there are 0 and 0 outstanding, respectively

-                             -                             

 Common Stock; par value $0.0001; 1,990,000,000 shares 

authorized; as of March 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, there 

are 463,424,470 and 463,174,470 shares outstanding, respectively 

46,343                    46,318                    

Additional paid-in capital 605,648                 605,670                 

Accumulated deficit (830,770)               (832,948)               

Tota l sh a r eh older s’ deficien cy (178,770)               (180,948)               

T OT A L LIA BILIT IES & SHA REHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY 225,388$              238,960$              

LIA BILIT IES A ND SHA REHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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STANDARD VAPE CORPORATION 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS UNAUDITED 

2021 2020

Revenue -$              -$                

Operating Expenses

    General and administrative expenses 2,322             75,283            

Total Operating Expenses 2,322 75,283

Operating Income/(Loss) (2,322) (75,283)

Other Income (Expense)

Loss/(Gain) in change in fair value of 

derivative liability -                (19,277)           

Gain on partial forgiveness of debt (4,500)           -                  

Interest expense -                87                   

Total Other Income (Expense) 4,500 19,190

Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operations 2,178             (56,093)           

Provision for taxes -                -                  

Net income/(Loss) Applicable to Common Shares 2,178$           (56,093)$         

Net income/(Loss) per share

Basic 0.00$             (0.00)$             

Diluted 0.00$             (0.00)$             

Shares used in computing net income/(loss) per share:

Basic 463,190,774 184,504,713

Diluted 472,452,274 204,894,773

Three Months Ended March 31,

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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STANDARD VAPE CORPORATION 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
UNAUDITED 

 

2021 2020

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net income (loss) 2,178$           (56,093)$      

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities.

(Gain) loss on partial forgiveness of debt (4,500)            -                

(Gain) loss derivative liability -                  (19,277)        

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase (decrease) accrued expenses 2,250             74,431         

Increase (decrease) accrued interest -                  (15,769)        

Net cash provided (used) in operating activities (72)                  (16,708)        

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Share issuance -                  23,038         

Proceeds from Notes payables -                  (7,182)          

Net cash provided by Financing activities -                  15,856         

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash provided by Investing activities -                  -                

NET CHANGE IN CASH (72)                  (852)              

Cash at beginning of period 460                 1,228            

Net cash at end of period 388$              376$             

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid for income taxes -$               -$              

Cash paid for interest -$               -$              

NON CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITY

Common stock issued for debt 43,428$         23,038$       

Three Months Ended March 31,

 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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STANDARD VAPE CORPORATION 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT 
UNAUDITED 

 
Additional

Paid-in Retained Shareholders'

Date Common Preferred Common Preferred Capital Earnings Equity

Balance, December 31, 2016 16,482,500          -              1,648        -           58,765        (2,632,671)    (2,572,258)      

12/31/17

 Shares issued to buy The Standard 

Tobacco Company of Pennsylvania, Inc. 1,000,000            -              100           -           249,900      -               250,000          

 Net loss for the year ended December 31, 

2017 -                       -              -           -           -              (4,453,272)    (4,453,272)      

Balance, December 31, 2017 17,482,500          -              1,748        -           308,665      (7,085,943)    (6,775,530)      

Shares issued during 2018 5,326,200            300,000      533           30             42,009        42,572            

 Net income for the year ended December 

31, 2018 -                       -              -           -           -              3,561,349     3,561,349       

Balance, December 31, 2018 22,808,700          300,000      2,281        30             350,674      (3,524,594)    (3,171,609)      

Shares canceled (300,000)     (30)           30               -               -                  

Shares issued during 2019 3,500,000            2,500          350           3              30,234        -               30,587            

3/28/19

 Shares issued to buy Nano Vape 

Corporation -                       250,000      -           25             224,975      -               225,000          

 Net income for the year ended December 

31, 2019 -                       -              -           -           -              2,163,183     2,163,183       

Balance, December 31, 2019 26,308,700          252,500      2,631        28             605,913      (1,361,411)    (752,839)         

Shares issued during 2020 436,865,770        (157,375)     43,687      (16)           (242)            -               43,428            

 Net income for the year ended December 

31, 2020 -                       -              -           -           -              528,463        528,463          

Balance, December 31, 2020 463,174,470        95,125        46,318      12             605,670      (832,948)       (180,948)         

3/25/21 Shares issued during 2021 250,000               (2,500)         25             (3)             (22)              -               -                  

Net income/(Loss) -                       -              -           -           -              2,178            2,178              

Balance, March 31, 2021 463,424,470        92,625        46,343      9              605,648      (830,770)       (178,770)         

Shares Amount

 
 

 
 

General and Administrative Expenses for the three-month period ending 3/31/31: 
 
Accounting $2,250 and Bank fees $72 equals $2,322. 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 



64 
 

STANDARD VAPE CORPORATION 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The Company 

The Corporation was formed on December 29, 2008 in the State of Nevada. Its initial authorized capital 
stock was 100,000,000 shares of common stock having a par value of $0.001 per share; and, 20,000,000 
shares of Preferred Stock having a par value of $0.001 per share. 

Simultaneously therewith the Corporation acquired Xuan Wu International Group, Inc., a Chinese 
corporation engaged in quarry operations. Pursuant to that acquisition of the Corporation exchanged 
16,482,500 shares of common stock for all the issued and outstanding shares of Target. The         Notice of 
Exchange was filed in Nevada on January 5, 2009. At that time control was vested in Jinhui Guo with 
10,000,000 shares out of the 16,482,500 shares. 

On November 1, 2017, Jinhui Guo resigned as sole officer and director of the Corporation and Roger 
Fidler became the sole officer and director of the Corporation. 

On December 31, 2017 the Corporation acquired for 1,000,000 shares of the Corporation’s common 
stock all the issued and outstanding shares of Standard. Mr. Fruhmann, who executed on behalf of The 
Standard Tobacco Company of Pennsylvania, Inc. (Standard), a Nevada corporation engaged in 
trademark licensing of trademarks acquired for formulations of tobacco that mimic the classic British 
brands which trademarks had been acquired by Standard. Simultaneously therewith, Roger Fidler 
resigned as the sole officer and director of the Corporation and John Fruhmann became the sole officer 
and director of the Corporation. On the same date, the Corporation agreed to return all shares of Target 
to Target’s shareholders. 

On February 22, 2018, voting control of the Corporation was vested in John Fruhmann by Jinhui Guo 
transferring 10,000,000 common shares to Mr. Fruhmann. 

On February 22, 2018, the Corporation also increased its authorized capital stock to two billion 
(2,000,000,000) shares having a par value of $0.0001 per share of which one billion nine hundred and 
ninety were shares of common stock and ten million shares were preferred stock. 

On April 1, 2018, the Corporation released any ownership rights to the Target and returned all the 
Target’s shares to Target shareholders. On May 3, 2018, the Corporation filed a Certificate of 
Designation designating 300,000 preferred shares as Class A Preferred Stock. These 300,000 shares of 
Class A Preferred Stock were issued to John Fruhmann and were recorded as stock-based compensation 
worth $30,000. Kindly note that Mr. Fruhmann returned the 300,000 preferred shares on3/28/19. 

On June 11, 2018, the Corporation filed an Amendment to its Articles of Incorporation effecting a ten 
for one forward split of its common stock, to be effective three days after FINRA clears the Issuer 
Company-Related Corporate Action Notification. The approval of FINRA did not occur and hence the 
amendment has not and will not become effective. 

On August 30, 2018, 90,000 shares were issued to a former officer, Daniel Z. Johnson, who furnished 
certain intellectual property to the Company, which we recorded as stock-based compensation worth 
$4,500. 

During the third quarter of 2018, a total of $2,686 of a convertible note was converted into a total of 
2,686,200 common shares. For the first quarter of 2019, a total of $2,500 of a convertible note was 
converted into 2,500,000 common shares. 
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On 3/28/19 the Company issued 250,000 Class A Preferred Stock with a fair value of $225,000 in order 
to acquire Nano Vape Corporation, a Wyoming company whose primary asset is a new type of e- 
cigarette. On 5/15/19 the Company designated 100,000 of its preferred shares as Class B Preferred Stock 
that are convertible into 100 shares of common stock, carry a $0.10 quarterly cumulative dividend payable 
from profits when realized, and are subject to a $10.00 per share mandatory redemption price and 
liquidation preference. On 5/15/19 the Company designated 100,000 of its preferred shares as Class    C 
Preferred Stock that are convertible into 500 shares of common stock. 

To complete the realignment of the business Xuan Wu also entered into a definitive sale contract on 

3/28/19 with Bethlehem IP Holdings, Inc., an entity controlled by the Swedish Tobacco Group (“STG”). 
STG will acquire the entire catalogue of trademarks of XNWU’s wholly owned subsidiary The Standard 
Tobacco Company of Pennsylvania, Ltd. for cash consideration of Fifty Thousand Dollars. The 
catalogue of trademarks includes iconic trade names War Horse, John Cotton’s, Bengal Slices, Dobie’s 
and Murray’s. These formerly British pipe tobacco brands were revived and sold by Pipes and Cigars 
under the Standard Tobacco name. Standard Tobacco retains the rights to use these marks on certain 

products outside the tobacco industry if it should choose to do so. 

On July 11, 2019, the Company accepted $25,000 Chrysalis Management, GmbH, in a Regulation S 
placement for 2,500 shares of its Class B Preferred Stock. 

During the fourth quarter of 2019, $1,000 of a convertible note was converted into a total of 1,000,000 
common shares. During the first quarter of 2020, $23,038 of convertible notes was converted into 
23,038,210 common shares and 157,375 Preferred A shares were converted into 393,437,500 common 
shares. During the second quarter of 2020, $20,390.06 of convertible notes was converted into 
20,390,060 common shares. 

On April 14, 2020, SVAP had acquired Neo-Virucide, Inc. (NVI), a newly formed Wyoming 
corporation that owns an exclusive worldwide license on the use of a proprietary nanoparticle NanoNOx 
for treatment of microbial and viral infections. NVI entered a related party contract with NMB 
Therapeutics, Inc. (NMB), the Worldwide Exclusive License and Product Development Agreement. 
This Agreement provides worldwide marketing rights to NanoNOx, the proprietary nanoparticle upon 
which a United States Provisional Patent Application had been filed in November, 2019 and 2020. While 
NanoNOx has several uses, NVIs present focus is assisting NMB in gaining permission from the FDA 
or foreign agencies or testing locations to test NanoNOx in human trials as a means of delivering  nitric 
oxide into deep lung tissue for the purpose of treating COVID-19. 

On November 10, 2020, the Company entered into a Joint Venture Agreement through its Neo Virucide, 
Inc. subsidiary (“NVI”) with Vivian Li Kremer Co. (“VLKC”) of New York, NY to develop and produce 

personal, building and transport protective equipment. NVI will allow use of its NanoNOx™ technology 
and its scientific team and VLKC will manage the JV. Net profits will be shared on a 51%/49% split in 
favor of VLKC. 

During the first quarter of 2021, all issued Class B Preferred Stock were converted into 250,000 
commons shares. 

Pending Acquisitions 

On March 15, 2021 the Company announced that 76.3% of the shareholders of Standard Vape 
Corporation had voted to acquire the two subsidiaries of FF24 Holding AG. The consummation of the 
transaction with Fast Finance 24 Holding AG ("FF24 Holding") is pending the registration of changes 
of ownership of the two German companies' shares with the administrative court ("Amtsgericht") in 
Germany.   

The two subsidiaries of FF24 Holding are both private companies with limited liability organized under 
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German law and active in the FinTech space: FF24 Merchant Services GmbH ("ff24payments.com") 
and FF24 Ventures GmbH ("ff24pay.com"). Further information on the businesses being acquired by 
SVAP is given below. 

The transaction is to be consummated by means of an equity exchange of 100,000 SVAP Class D 
Preferred for 100% of the issued share capital of each German company. As part of the transaction, 
SVAP will divest itself of Nano Vape Corporation by rescinding the transaction with the original Nano 
Vape shareholders and returning the business and liabilities to the original vendors of that business. All 
remaining SVAP Series A Preferred shares will be converted into common stock with the cancellation 
of ninety percent of the resulting converted shares including any common shares resulting from previous 
Series A conversions, leaving Series A preferred holders with 10% of their original holding or 
61,490,000 common shares with 562,500,000 shares or shares that could be issued by virtue of the 
Series A being cancelled. The transaction calls for the shares resulting from the Series A conversion 
and prior conversions to be subject to a 90 day ‘lock up' with a 12 month bleed out agreement thereafter. 
After the conversion and cancellation, the only preferred series outstanding will be Series D issued to 
FF24 Holding AG as the consideration for the two German subsidiaries. The wholly-owned subsidiary 
of SVAP, Neo Virucide, Inc., will be ‘spun off' to shareholders of record as of March 5, 2021 leaving 
SVAP shareholders holding shares in the newly-consolidated surviving FinTech businesses within the 
Company. 

The Company intends, following the consummation of the transaction, to announce a change of name, 
better to reflect its new business direction. Mr. John Fruhmann and Mrs. Elizabeth Ehrlich Kellogg and 
Mr. Daniel Fisher shall resign from the Board of SVAP and Mr. Andreas Garke, chief executive officer 
and co-founder of FF24 Holding, shall be appointed the new President with Mr. Armin Dartsch, 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of FF24 Holding, the Director and Company Secretary. 

 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying unaudited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in The United States of America and the rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). 

 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

Cash 

Cash consists principally of currency on hand, and demand deposits at commercial banks. The Company 
had cash of $388 on March 31, 2021 and $460 on December 31, 2020. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenues are recognized when the following revenue recognition criteria are met: (1) persuasive 
evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) there is a fixed or determinable price; (3) the product has been 
shipped and the customer takes ownership and assumes risk of loss; and (4) collectability of the resulting 
receivable is reasonably assured. These criteria are satisfied upon shipment of product, and revenues are 
recognized 
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Net Income or (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock 

Basic and diluted loss per common share is based upon the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period computed under the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification 
subtopic 260-10, Earnings per Share (“ASC 260-10”). Diluted income (loss) per share includes the 
dilutive effects of common stock equivalents on an “as if converted” basis. 

 
Goodwill 

The excess of the purchase price over the fair market value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

in acquisition transactions is classified as goodwill. In accordance with Statement No. 142, “Goodwill 

and Other Intangible Assets,” the Company does not amortize goodwill, but performs impairment 

tests of the carrying value at least annually. 

 
Prepaid License Fees 

The Company paid $18,000 during September 2020 to NMB Therapeutics, Inc. (a related party) for as 

prepaid licenses fees for a nitric oxide-laden nanoparticle (“NanoNOxTM”). Three months’ 

amortization was recorded during the last quarter. This transaction was canceled and the funds were 

returned to the Company.   

Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets are stated at the lesser of cost or fair value less accumulated amortization. 

Income Taxes 

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and 
operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences 
are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in 
tax rates is recognized in operations in the period enacted. A valuation allowance is provided when it 
is more likely than not that a portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The ultimate 
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income and the 
reversal of deferred tax liabilities during the period in which related temporary differences become 
deductible. The benefit of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the Company’s income tax 
returns are recognized in the condensed financial statements if such positions are more likely than not 
of being sustained. 

In accordance with ASC 740-10, the Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax 
position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the 
position following an audit. For tax positions meeting this standard, the amount recognized in the 
financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized 
upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. 

Fair Value of Instruments 

ASC 825-10, Financial Instruments requires disclosure of the fair value of certain financial instruments. 

The carrying value of cash, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, as reflected in the balance 
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sheets, approximate fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments. All other 
significant financial assets, financial liabilities and equity instruments of the Company are either 
recognized or disclosed in the financial statements together with other information relevant for making 
a reasonable assessment of future cash flows, interest rate risk and credit risk. Where practicable the fair 
values of financial assets and financial liabilities have been determined and disclosed; otherwise only 
available information pertinent to fair value has been disclosed. 

The company follows ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures and Accounting 
Standards Codification subtopic 825-10, Financial Instruments (“ASC 825-10”), which permits entities 
to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at FairValue. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update 
(ASU) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which will supersede nearly all existing 
revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize 
revenues when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 
defines a five-step process to achieve this core principle and, in doing so, more judgment and estimates 
may be required within the revenue recognition process than are required under existing 
U.S. GAAP. As amended by the FASB in July 2015, the standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods therein, using either of the following 
transition methods: (i) a full retrospective approach reflecting the application of the standard in each 
prior reporting period with the option to elect certain practical expedients, or (ii) a retrospective 
approach with the cumulative effect of initially adopting ASU 2014-09 recognized at the date of 
adoption (which includes additional footnote disclosures). We are currently evaluating the impact of 
ASU 2014-09 on our future financial statements. 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), to provide guidance on 
recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing key information about 
leasing arrangements, specifically differentiating between different types of leases. The core principle 
of Topic 842 is that a lessee should recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from all leases. The 
recognition, measurement, and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee 
have not significantly changed from previous GAAP. There continues to be a differentiation between 
finance leases and operating leases. However, the principal difference from previous guidance is that 
the lease assets and lease liabilities arising from operating leases should be recognized in the balance 
sheet. The accounting applied by a lessor is largely unchanged from that applied under previous GAAP. 
The amendments will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim 
periods within those fiscal years, and early adoption is permitted. In transition, lessees and lessors are 
required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented using a 
modified retrospective approach. The modified retrospective approach includes a number of optional 
practical expedients that entities may elect to apply. These practical expedients relate to the 
identification and classification of leases that commenced before the effective date, initial direct costs 
for leases that commenced before the effective date, and the ability to use hindsight in evaluating lessee 
options to extend or terminate a lease or to purchase the underlying asset. An entity that elects to apply 
the practical expedients will, in effect, continue to account for leases that commence before the 
effective date in accordance with previous GAAP unless the lease is modified, except that lessees are 
required to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all operating leases at each reporting 
date based on the present value of the remaining minimum rental payments that were tracked and 
disclosed under previous GAAP. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of these 
amendments on its financial statements. 

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 
606): Principal versus Agent Considerations, to clarify the implementation guidance on principal 
versus agent considerations and address how an entity should assess whether it is the principal or the 
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agent in contracts that include three or more parties. The effective date and transition requirements for 
these amendments are the same as the effective date and transition requirements of ASU 2014-09 
(discussed above). The Company is currently evaluating the impact of these amendments on its 
financial statements. 

In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 
606): Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing, to clarify the following two aspects of Topic 
606: 1) identifying performance obligations, and 2) the licensing implementation guidance. The 
effective date and transition requirements for these amendments are the same as the effective date and 
transition requirements of ASU 2014-09 (discussed above). The Company is currently evaluating the 
impact of these amendments on its financial statements. 

 
NOTE 3 - GOING CONCERN 

 

Under ASC 205-40, we have the responsibility to evaluate whether conditions and/or events raise 
substantial doubt about our ability to meet our future financial obligations as they become due within 
one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. As required by this standard, our 
evaluation shall initially not take into consideration the potential mitigating effects of our plans that 
have not been fully implemented as of the date the financial statements are issued. 

 
In performing the first step of this assessment, we concluded that the following conditions raise 
substantial doubt about our ability to meet our financial obligations as they become due. We have a 
history of net losses for the period ended March 31, 2021; we had a cumulative net loss of 
$830,770. For the period ended March 31, 2021, we had negative working capital of $403,770. We 
expect to continue to incur negative working capital until such time as our operating segments generate 
sufficient cash to finance our operations and debt service requirements. 

 
In performing the second step of this assessment, we are required to evaluate whether our plans to 
mitigate the conditions above alleviate the substantial doubt about our ability to meet our obligations as 
they become due within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. Our future plans 
include securing additional funding sources that may include establishing corporate partnerships, 
establishing licensing revenue agreements, issuing additional convertible debentures and issuing 
public or private equity securities, including selling common stock through an at-the-market facility 
(ATM). 

 

There is no assurance that sufficient funds required during the next year or thereafter will be generated 
from operations or that funds will be available through external sources. The lack of additional capital 
resulting from the inability to generate cash flow from operations or to raise capital from external 
sources would force the Company to substantially curtail or cease operations and would, therefore, 
have a material effect on the business. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that any such required 
funds, if available, will be available on attractive terms or they will not have a significant dilutive 
effect on the Company’s existing shareholders. 
 

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis, 
which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of 
business. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to 
reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and 
classification of liabilities that may result from uncertainty related to our ability to continue as a going 
concern. 
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NOTE 4 - PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 

The Company files income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction and certain state 
jurisdictions. We did not provide any current or deferred U.S. Federal Income Tax provision or benefit 
for any of the periods presented because we have experienced operating losses since our date of 
incorporation. Accounting for the Uncertainty in Income Taxes when it is more likely than not that a 
tax asset cannot be realized through future income, the Company must allow for this future tax benefit. 
We provided full valuation allowance on the net deferred asset, consisting of net operating loss carry 
forwards, because management has determined that it is more likely than not that we will not earn 
income sufficient to realize the deferred assets during the carry forward period. 

 

 NOTE 5 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

The Company’s legal team have aggressively responded to the New York lawsuits and is seeking their dismissal. 
Subsequent to the balance sheet date of March 31 2021 five shareholders holding in aggregate of 76.3% of the 
outstanding voting rights in the company entered into an indemnity, valid pending the dismissal or other 
permanent resolution of the Life Wellness, Inc. and Robert Kremer litigation naming Standard Vape Corporation 
as a co-defendant, indemnifying the latter against any costs or losses arising from the litigation.  

  


